S ° °
THE ROTHFELDER L AW OFFICES

625 CENTRAL AVENUE
WESTFIELD, NJ 07090

MARTIN C. ROTHFELDER"¢ TELEPHONE (908) 301-1211
MAUREEN KEHOE ROTHFELDER” FAX (908) 301-1212
NATHAN T, FOOSE" WEBSITE www.rto-law.com

"ALSO ADMITTED IN NH
*ADMITTED IN NH ONLY
°ALSC ADMITTED IN MO

November 12, 1999
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VIA AIRBORNE EXPRESS
Dale Hardy Roberts, Secretary NOv 1 g 1999
Missouri Public Service Commission M
301 West High Street Se fSSou ri
v A=
5" Floor, Room 530 7/}-3 POD-B B ice Com,%%lsﬁfon

Jefferson City, MO 65101

Re:  Application of Metromedia Fiber
Network Services, Inc.

Dear Judge Roberts:

On behalf of Metromedia Fiber Network Services, Inc., (MFNS), enclosed please find an
original and fourteen (14) copies of Certificate of Authority and Competitive Classification.

In addition, please find an extra copy with a self addressed stamped envelope. Please
date stamp and mail to us.

If there are any questions regarding this matter, please don’t hesitate to contact me.

Martin C. Rothfelder
MCR/rme
cc: Martha Hogerty (Office of Public Counsel) (w/enc.) (Via Airborne Express)
Arnold Wadler (w/o enc.)
Karen Nations (w/ enc.)

Dennis Codlin (w/ enc.)
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In the matter of the Application of
Metromedia Fiber Network Services, Inc. for a
certificate of service authority to

provide Local and Interexchange
Telecommunications Service in portions

of the State of Missouri and to classify

said services and the company as competitive.

Case No. A4 c? 500-335

A

APPLICATION FOR CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE AUTHORITY
AND FOR COMPETITIVE CLASSIFICATION

Comes now Metromedia Fiber Network Services, Inc. (“MFNS” or “Applicant™), by its
undersigned counsel, and hereby applies pursuant to Sections 392.361, 392.420, and 392.430
RSMo 1994, 392.410, 392.450 RSMo Supp. 1996, the federal Telecommunications Act of 1996,
and 4 CSR 240-2.060, for authority to provide basic local and interexchange telecommunications
service in portions of the State of Missouri and to classify said service and company as
competitive. In support of its application MFNS states as follows:

1. Applicant is a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the
laws of the State of Delaware and a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Metromedia Fiber
Network, Inc. (NASDAQ: MFNX) (“MFN”), also a Delaware corporation. MFNS is qualified
to do business in the State of Missouri. Copies of MFNS’ Certificate of Authority to Transact
Business in the State of Missouri and Certificate of Incorporation are attached hereto as Exhibit
A,

2. All inquiries, correspondence, communications, pleadings, notices, orders and
decisions relating to the case should be addressed to:

Martin C. Rothfelder, Esq.



The Rothfelder Law Offices

625 Central Avenue

Westfield, NJ 07090

(908) 301-1211 (Telephone)

(908) 301-1212 (Facsimile}
With a copy to:

Dennis E. Codlin, Esq.

Vice President — Legal Affairs

Metromedia Fiber Network Services, Inc.

One N. Lexington Avenue

White Plains, NY 10601

(914) 421-6708 (Telephone)

(914) 421-7688 (Facsimile)

3. MFNS proposes to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications
service on a facilities basis, throughout all exchanges currently served by the incumbent local
exchange telecommunication companies of Southwestern Bell Telephone Company (SWBT),
Sprint/United Telephone Company (United), and GTE Midwest, Inc. {(GTE). The specific
SWBT, United and GTE exchanges within which MFNS proposes to offer service are listed in
the incumbent providers’ respective local exchange tariffs. MFNS may seek authority to provide
this service in other areas of the state in a subsequent proceeding.

4. Pursuant to this application MFNS seeks to offer and provide all forms of local
exchange and interexchange telecommunications service including: dedicated and non-switched
telecommunications facilities and services.

5. MFNS possesses the technical and managerial expertise and experience necessary
to provide the services it proposes. A description of backgrounds of MFNS management, which

demonstrate the extensive experience and expertise, is attached hereto and incorporated herein

by reference as Exhibit B.




6. MFNS also possesses the necessary financial resources to provide the
telecommunications services for which it currently seeks authorization. In particular, MFNS, a
wholly owned subsidiary of MFN, has access to the financing and capital necessary to conduct
its telecommunications operations as specified in this application. In support of this application,
a copy of MFN’s most recent SEC Form 10-K is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

On October 7, 1999, MFN announced strategic agreements with Bell Atlantic. In an
agreement valued at $550 million Bell Atlantic agreed to obtain dark fiber infrastructure from
MFN. In addition Bell Atlantic will invest $700 million to make a 9.9% equity investment in
MFN and will also acquire approximately $975 million in debt security instruments. These
instruments are convertible into common stock increasing Bell Atlantic’s potential equity in
MFN to about 19% of the Company. MFN will use this new cash infusion to accelerate the build
out of its nationwide infrastructure including Missouri.

7. MFNS seeks classification of itself and its services as competitive.

8. MFNS is willing to comply with all applicable Commission rules and is willing to
meet all relevant service standards, including, but not limited to billing, quality of service, and
tariff filing and maintenance. Consistent with the Commission’s treatment of other certificated
competitive local exchange telecommunications companies, MFNS requests that the following
statutes and regulations be waived for MFNS and its basic local exchange service offerings:

Statutes

392.210.2 — Uniform System of Accounts
392.270 — Valuation of Property (Ratemaking)
392.280 4 — Depreciation Accounts

392.290.1 — Issuance of Securities

392.300.2 — Acquisition of Stock

392.310 — Stock and Debt Issuance

392.320 — Stock Dividend Payment

392.330 — Issuance of Securities, Debts and Notes



392.340 — Reorganization

Commission Rules

4 CSR 240-10.02 — Depreciation Fund Income

4 CSR 240-30-040 - Uniform System of Accounts

4 CSR 240-35 — Reporting of Bypass and Customer-specific Arrangements

9. MENS further requests a temporary waiver of 4 CSR 240-2.060(4)(H). This rule
requires that an application for a certificate of service authority to provide interexchange, local
exchange or basic local exchange service shall include a proposed taniff with a forty-five day
effective date. MFNS finds it impossible at this time to develop tariffs to fully comply with this
rule since MFNS has not yet executed or received Commission approval of any resale
agreements with incumbent local exchange companies. At such time as all facts necessary for
the development of such tariffs are known to MFNS, it will promptly file said tariffs bearing no
less than a 30 day effective date with the Commission in a manner consistent with recent
Commission practice in similar cases.

10.  MFNS is willing to comply with all applicable Commission rules and is willing to
meet all relevant service standards including, but not limited to, quality of service, billing, and
tariff filing and maintenance.

11. MFNS submits that the public interest will be served by Commission approval of
this application because MFNS’ proposed services will create and enhance competition and
expand customer service options consistent with the legislative goals set forth in the federal
Telecommunications Act of 1996 and Chapter 392 RSMo. Prompt approval of this application
also will expand the availability of innovative, high quality, and reliable telecommunications

services within the State of Missouri.



WHEREFORE, applicant Metromedia Fiber Network Services, Inc. respectfully requests
that the Commission grant it a certificate of service authority to provide local exchange and
interexchange telecommunications services as herein requested, classify MFNS and its proposed

services as competitive, and grant a waiver of the aforesaid statutes and regulations.

i b

Martin C. Rothefclder (MO B# # 31794)
The Rothfelder Law Offices

625 Central Avenue

Westfield, NJ 07090

tfully submitted

ATTORNEY FOR APPLICANT
Metromedia Fiber Network Services, Inc.



Rebecca McDowell Cook
Secretary of State

CORPORATION DIVISION
CERTIFICATE OF CORPORATE GOOD STANDING - FOREIGN CORPORATION
I, REBECCA MCDOWELL COOK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE

T
“=3 OF MISSOURI, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE RECORDS IN MY OFFICE
" AND IN MY CARE AND CUSTODY REVEAL THAT

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK SERVICES, INC.

USING IN MISSOURI THE NAME
METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK SERVICES, INC.

A DELAWARE CORPORATION FILED ITS EVIDENCE OF INCORPORATION

5.0.5.#30

WITH THISLSTATE ON THE Z20TH DAY oF SEPTEMBER, 1999, AND 1S IN

OF THIS OFFICE.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, 1 HAVE SET MY A
HAND AND IMPRINTED THE GREAT SEAL oOF By :iﬁﬁilﬁ

THE STATE OF MISSOURI, ON THIS, THE
Z2ND DAY OF OCTOBER, 1999.
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Secretary of State
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State of Delaware
Oﬁi&é of the Secretary of State PAGE 1

I, EDWARD J. FREEL, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF
DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CEhTIFY THE ATTACEED ARE TRUE AND CORRECT
COPIES OF ALL DOCUMENTéIONTFiLE OF “METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK
SERVICES, INC. AS RECEIVED AND FILED IN THIS OFFICE

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN CERTIFIED ‘
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION, FILED THE SIXTH DAY OF
JANUARY, A D. 1993 AT" 9 0’ CLOCK A'.M.

W 3

CERTIFICATE OF MERGER FILED THE SIXTH DAY OF MARCH, A.D.

(

1998, AT 9 04 O’'CLOCK A.M. ;7

CERTIFICATE oF MERGER,'FILED THE FOURTH DAY OF JUNE, A.D.

1998, AT 9 O'CLOCK A.M.
|

T
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Edward ]. Freel, Secretary of State

2842465 8100H AUTHENTICATION: 9043984

991450116 DATE: 10-25-99



STATE OF DELAWARE

. . SECRETARY OF STATE
DIVISION CF CORDORATIONS
FILED 09:00 BM 01/06/1598

981004989 — 2842465

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF
METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK SERVICES, INC.

The undersigned incorporator, in order to form a corporation under thc General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "General Corporation Law"), certifies as

follows:

1.  Name. The name of the corporation iy Metromedia Fiber Network

Services, Ine. (the "Corporation”).

2. Address; Registered Office and Agent. The address of the Corporation's

registered office is 1013 Centre Road, Wilmington, Delaware. The name of the registered

agent at such address is Corporation Service Company in New Castle County.

3. Purposes. The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act ot
activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law.

4.  Number of Shares. The total number of shares of stock that the

Corporation shall have authority to issue is: One thousand (1,000}, all of which shall be

shares of Common Stogk of the par value of ($0.01) each.

5. Name and Mailing Address of Incorporatar. The name and mailing
address of the incorporator are: Dennis E. Codlin, c/o Metromedia Fiber Network Services,

Inc., 110 East 42" Street, New York, NY 10017.

6.  Election of Directors. Members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation

(the "Board") may be elected either by written ballot or by voice vote.




7. Limitation of Liability. No director of the Corporation shall be personally

liable to the Corporation or its stockholders tor monetary damages for breach of fiduciary
duty as a director, provided that this provision shall not climinate or limit the liability of a
director (a) for any breach of the director's duty or loyaity to the Corporation or its
stockholders, (b) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional
misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (¢) under section 174 of the General Corporation
Law or (d) for any transaction from which the director derived any improper personal
benefits.

Any repeal or modification of the foregoing provision shall not adversely affect any
right or protection of a director of the Corporation existing at the time of such repesl or

modification.

8. Indemnification.

8.1 To the extent not prohibiled by law, the Corporafion shall indemnify any
person who is or was made, or threatened to be made, a party to any threatened, pending or
completed action, suit or proceeding (a "Procecding”), whether civil, ¢riminal,
administrative or investigative, including, without limitation, an action by or in the right of
the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor, by reason of the fact that such person, or
a person of whom such person is the legal representative, is or was a director or officer of
the Corporation, or, at the request of the Corporation, is or was serving as a director or
officer of any other corporation or in a capacity with comparable authority or
responsibilities for any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other
enterprise (an "Other Entity”), against judgments, fines, penalties, excise taxes, amounts
paid in settlement and costs, charges and expenses (including attorneys' fees, disbursements
and other charges). Persons who are not directors or officers of the Corporation (or

otherwise entitled to indemnification pursuant to the preceding seatence) may be similarly




indemnified in respect of service to the Corporation or to an Other Entity at the request of
the Corporation to the extent the Board at any time specifies that such persons are entitled to
the benefits of this Section 8

8.2 The Corporation shall. from time to time, reimburse or advance to any
director or officer or other person entitled to indemnification hereunder the funds necessary
for payment of expenses, including attorneys’ fzes and disbursements, incurred in
connection with any Proceeding, in advance of the fina) disposition of such Proceeding;

provided, however, that, if required by the General Corporation Law, such expenses

incurred by or on behalf of any director or officer or other person may be paid in advance of
the final disposition of 2 Proceeding only upon receipt by the Corporation of an
undertaking, by or on behalf of such director or officer (or other person indemnified
hereunder), to repay any such amount so advanced if it shall ultimately be determined by
final judicial decision from which there is no further right of appeal that such director,
officer or other person is not entitled to be indemnified for such expenses.

8.3 The rights to indemnification and reimbursement or advancement of
expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Section 8 shall not be deemed exclusive
of any other -rights to which a person seeking indemnification or reimbursement or
advancement of expenses may have or hereafter be entitled under any statute, this
Certificate of Incorporation, the By-laws of the Corporation (the "By-laws") any agreement,
any vote of stockhoiders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in his or
her official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office.

8.4 The rights to indemnification and reimbursement or advancement of
expenses provided by, or. granted pﬁrsuanl to, this Section 8 shall continue as to a person
who has ceased to be a director or officer {or other person indemnified hereunder) and shall
inure to the benefit of the executors, administrators, Jegatees and distributees of such person.

8.5 The Corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on
behalf of any person who i3 or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation,



or i$ Or was serving at- the request of the Corporation 88 a director, officer, employee or
agent of an Other Entity, against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by
such person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person's s1atus as such, whether or
not the Corperation would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability
under the provisions of this Section 8, the By-laws or under section 145 of the General
Corporation Law or any other provision of law.

8.6 The provisions of this Section 8 shall be a contract between the
Corporatioﬁ, on the one hand, and each director and officer who serves in such capacity at
any time while this Section 8 is in effect and any other person entitled to indemnification
hereunder, on the other hand, pursuant to which the Corporation and each such director,
officer, or other person intend to be, and shall be, legally bound. Mo repeal or modification
of this Section 8§ shall affect any rights or obligations with respect to any state of facts then
or theretofore existing or thereafter arising or any proceeding therctofore or thereafier
brought or threatened based in whole or in part upon any such state of facts.

8.7 The rights to indemnification and reimbursemnent or advancement or
expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Section 8 shall be enforceable by any
person entitled to such indemnification or reimbursement or advancement of expenses in
any court of competent jurisdiction. The burden of providing that such indemnification or
reimbursement or advancement of expenses is not appropriate shall be on the Corporation.
Neither the failure of the Corporation (including its Board, its independent {egal counsel and
its stockholders) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of such action
that such indemnification or reimbursement or advancement of expenses is proper in the
circumstances nor an actual determination by the Corporation (including its Board, its
independent legal counsel and its stockholders) that such persun is not entitled to such
indemnification or reimbursement or advancement of expenses shall constitute a defense to
the action or create a presumption that such person is not so entitled. Such a person shall

also be indemnified for any expenses incwred in connection with successfully establishing




his or her right to such indemnification or reimbursement or advancement of expenses, in
whole or in part, in any such proceeding.

8.8  Any director or officer of the Corporation serving in any capacity (a)
another corporation of which a majority of the shan:é entitled to vote in the election of its
directors is held, directly or indirectly, by the Corporation or {b) any cmployee benefit plan
of the Corporation or any corporation referred to in ¢lause (a) shall be deemed to be doing
50 at the request of the Corporation.

8.9 Any person cmiitled to be indemnificd or to reimbursement or
advancement of expenses as & matter of right pursuant 1o this Section 8 may ¢lect to have
the right to indemnification or reimbursernent or advancement of expenses interpreted on
the basis of the applicable law in effect at the time of the occurrence of the event or events
giving rise to the applicable Proceeding, to the extent permitted by law, or on the basis of
the applicable law in effect at the time such indemmification or reimbursement or
advancement of expenses is sought. Such election shall be made, by a notice in writing to
the Corporation, at the time indemnification or reimbursement or advancement of expenses

is sought; provided, however, that if no such notice is given, the right to indemnification or

reimbursement or advancement of expenses shall be determined by the law in effect at the

time indemnification or reimbursement or advancement of expenses is sought.




9. Adoption, Amendment and/or Repeal of By-Laws, The Board may from

time to time adopt, amend or repeal the By-laws of the Corporation, provided, however, that
any By-laws adopted 61' amended by the Board may be amended or repealed, and any By-
laws may be adopted, by the stockholders of the Corporation by vote of a majority of the

holders of shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote in the election of directors of

tho Corporation.

WITNESS the signature of this Certificate this 6™ day of January, 1998.

Dennis E. Codlin
Incorporator



STATE OF DELAWARE

n SECRETARY OF STATE
oFET= DIVISION OF CORPORATIONS
" CERTIFICATE OF MERGER FILED Q9:04 aM 03/06/1998
OF 081089935 — 2842465
METROMEDIA FIRER NETWORK OF CONNECTICUT, INC.
AND .
METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK OF pC, INC.
AND
METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK OF MARYLAND, INC.
AND
METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK OF PENNSYLVANIA, INC.,
AND ‘
METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK OF VIRGINIA, INC.
INTO

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK SERVICES, INC.

To The Secretary of State
State of Delaware:

It is hereby cartified thar:
1. The constituent business corperations herein certified are:

{i} Metromedia Fiber Network of Connecticut, Ime, which s
incorperated under the Jaws of the State of Delaware; and

(i) Metromedia Fiber Network of DC, Inc. which is incorporated under
the taws of the State of Delaware; and

(iii} Metromedia Fiber Network of Maryland, ¥nc., which is incorporated
wnder the laws of the State of Delaware; and

{(ivy Metromedia Fiber Network of Pennsylvania, Inc, which s
mcorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware; and

(vl Metromedia Fiber Network of Virginia, Inc., which is incorporated
ander the laws of the Stare of Virginiz; and

{vi} Metromedia Fibar Network Services, Iixc., which is incorporated under
the laws of the State of Delaware.

2. An Agreement of Merger hss becp approved, adopted, certified, executed. and
scknowledged by cach of the aforeseid constituent business corporations in accordance with
the provisions of Section 252 +f the General Corporation Law of the State of Deleware by
the constituents Corporations, Metromedia Fibar Network of Connecticot, Ine., Metromedia
Fiber Network of DC. Ine., Metromedia Fiber Network of Maryland, Inc., Memomedia



t

‘ o

Fiber Network of Pennsylvania, Inc., Metomedia Fiber Network of Virginia, Inc., and
Metromedia Fiber Network Services, Ine.

3. The name of the surviving corporstion in the merger hersin certified is
Metromedia Fiber Network Services, Inc, which will continue its exisience as sajd
surviving corporation under it present name upon the effective date of said merger pursuant
te the provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Dejawarc.

4. The Centificate of Incorporation of Metromedia Fiber Network Services, Inc. as
now in force and effect, shall contipue 10 be the Cenificate of Incorporation of said
corporation unul amended and changed pursuans to the provisions of the Delaware General
Corporation Law.

5. The executed Agreement of Merger between the aforesaid business corporations is
on file at the aforesaid principal place of business of the aforesaid surviving corporation, the
address of which is as follows:

110 East 42 Strect, Suite 1502
New York, NY 10017

6. A copy of the aforesaid Agreement of Merger will be furnished by the aforesaid
surviving corporaiion, on request, and without cost, to any stockholder aforesaid constituent
business corpomations,

7. The authorized capital stock of Metromedia Fiber Notwork ‘of Virigina, Inc.

of 1000 shares, par value of $.01 each.

B, An Agrecment of Merger between the aforesaid constituent business corporations
provides that the merger herein certified shall be effective on March &, 1998,

Metre Fiber Ne of Conpnecticut, Inc.
) E ﬂ
By: il &

Dennis E. Codlin,
Vice President and Assistant Secretary

Dated March {5, 1998

Fiber Network of Dfi, Inc.

~—

15 E. Cotilin.
Vice President and Assistant Secretary

consist -
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Mztmm(b}ﬂner Network 071m¢ Ine.

By: /f /Z’Zfﬂ/{ Z _/ L’
Denms £. Codlin,

Vice President and Assistant Sscretary

Metrome iber Network of Pennsylvania, Inc.
’
N g/

By: \é AL -
Degnis E. Codlin,
Vice President and Asgistant Secretary

By:
is E. Codlin,
Vice President and Assistant Secretary
Metromiedia Fiber Network Services, Inc.
~N Z : .
By: P

D . Codlin,
Vice President and Assistant Secretary




STATE OF DELAWARE —

SECRETARY OF STATE v e -\“
DIVISION OF CORPORATIONS - o
FILED 09:00 AM 06/04/1998

981215294 - 2842465

STATE OF DELAWARE
CERTIFICATE OF MERGER OR CONSOLIDATION
OF DOMESTIC CORPORATIONS AND
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANIES

Pursuant to Title 8, Section 264 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, the undersigned
corporations exscuted the following certificate of Merger:

FIRST: The name of the surviving corporation is Metromedia Fiber Network

Services, Ine., a Delaware corporation, and the names of the corporation and limited

tiability companics being merged into this corporation are Metromedia Fiber Network of New York,
Inc., & Delaware corporation, MFN of I, L.L.C,, a Delaware limited ligbility

company, and MFN of NY, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company.

SECOND: The Agreement of Merger has been approved, adopted, certified, exccuted,
and acknowledged by the surviving corporation, the merging corporation, and the merging
limited liability companies.

THIRD: The name of the surviving corporation is Metromedia Fiber Network
Services, (nc., a Delaware corporation.

FOURTH: The merger is to become effective upon filing.

FIFTH: The Agreement and Plan of Merger is on file at (me North Lexington
Avenue, White Plains, New York 10601, the place of Business of the surviving corporation.

SIXTH: A copy of the Agreement of Merger will be furnished by the corporation on
request, without cost, to any stockholder of the surviving corporation or stockholder of the
merging corporation or member of the merging limited liability companics.

SEVENTH: The Certificate of Incorporation of the surviving corporation' shall be its
Certificate of Incorporation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said corporations have caused this certificate to be signed by
an authorized officer and/or member, the 28" day of May 1998.

Dennis E. Codlin,
Vice President and Assistant Secretary

G:ASchuberfl DAR\Docs\MFN.Subs MergerCen2 dnc
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By:

Dennis E. Codlin,

Vice President and Assistant Secretary
MFNof IL, L.L.C.

By: Metromedia Fiber Netwoark of Illinols, Inc.
SoleMember

By:

Dennis k- Codlin,

Vice President and Assistant Secretary
MEFN of NY, L.L.C.

By: Metromedis Fiber Network of NY, Inc.

By:

Derinis E. Codlin, ™
Vice President and Assistant Secretary



Managerial Qualifications

Stephen A. Garofalo: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Stephen A. Garofalo is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of MFNS. In addition,
Mr. Garofalo founded MFN in April 1993, and has been serving as Chairman of the Board since
MEFN’s inception and as Chief Executive Officer since October 1996. Mr. Garofalo also served
as MFN’s President from 1993 to 1996 and as Secretary from 1993 to 1997. From 1979 to 1993,
Mr. Garofalo served as president and chief executive officer of F. Garofalo Electric Co., Inc.

Howard M. Finkelstein: President and Chief Operating Officer

Howard M. Finkelstein is MFNS’ President and Chief Operating Officer. In addition,
Mr. Finkelstein has been President, Chief Operating Officer and a Director of MFN since April
1997. Prior to joining MFN, Mr. Finkelstein was employed by various affiliates of Metromedia
Company for 16 years. His most recent position was as Executive Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer of Metromedia International Telecommunications, Inc. From 1984 to 1993,
Mr. Finkelstein served as President of Metromedia Communications Corporation, a national long
distance telecommunications carrier. In addition, Mr. Finkelstein served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Operating Officer of Metromedia Restaurant Group from 1993 to 1995. Mr.
Finkelstein is a Director of Multimedia Medical Systems, Incorporated, a privately held
company.

Gerard Benedetto: Chief Financial Officer

Gerard Benedetto is MFNS’ Chief Financial Officer. His most recent position was as
Chief Accounting Officer for Metromedia International Telecommunications, Inc., a subsidiary
of Metromedia International Group, from July 1997 to December 1997, Prior to that he was
Chief Financial Officer of Metromedia Restaurant Group from October 1993 to July 1995. In
addition, Mr. Benedetio was Chief Financial Officer of Metromedia Communications
Corporation, a national long distance telecommunications carrier, from 1985 to 1993. Mr.
Benedetto is also a Certified Public Accountant.

Vincent A. Galluccio: Senior Vice President--Business Development

Vincent A. Galluccio is MFNS’ Senior Vice President of Business Development. In
addition, Mr. Galluccio has been a Director of MFN since February 1997 and has served as a
Senior Vice President since December 1995. From Jamuary 1992 to October 1994, Mr.
Galluccio was employed by British Telecommunications Plc. as a global sales manager for
network outsourcing operations. Prior to joining British Telecommunications Plc., Mr.
Galluccio spent 25 years with International Business Machines Corporation in various sales,
marketing, and business development positions and was involved in both domestic and world
trade assignments.



Charlette D. Denenberg: Vice President and Chief Technology Officer

Dr. Charlotte D. Denenberg is MENS' Vice President and Chief Technology Officer. Prior to
joining MFNS, Dr. Denenberg worked for Southern New England Telephone Company for a
period of 11 years, most recently as Vice President - Network Technology and Chief Technology
Officer. Prior to that, she held various leadership positions with ITT Corporation and AT&T
Bell Labs, now part of Lucent Technologies. Currently, Dr. Denenberg serves on the Board of
Directors of the University of New Haven and chairs its distance learning committee. She is also
a member of the Alliance for Telecommunications Industry Sclutions (ATIS) and a founding
member of the Connecticut Technology Council.

Dennis E. Codlin: Vice President of L.egal Affairs and Assistant Secretary

Dennis E. Codlin is MFNS’ Vice President of Legal Affairs and Assistant Secretary. In
addition, Mr. Codlin has been Vice President-Legal Affairs of MFN since November 1997.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Codlin was employed by Metromedia Company in its Legal
Department since 1980, most recently as Senior Associate General Counsel and Assistant
Secretary. Mr, Codlin was also an Assistant Secretary of Metromedia International Group, Inc.

Steven J. Joffe: Vice President -- Tax

Steven J. Joffe 1s MFNS’ Vice President of Tax. In addition, Mr. Joffe has been Vice
President - Tax of MFN since May 1998 and serves as Vice President - Tax and Associate
General Counsel of Metromedia Company and various affiliates of Metromedia Company. Prior
to joining Metromedia Company in April of 1994, Mr. Joffe was a Senior Tax Manager with
Price Waterhouse from May 1998 to March 1993. From August 1977 through April 1988, Mr.
Joffe practiced law in New York City with Marshall, Bratter, Greene, Allison & Tucker;
Seyfarth, Shaw, Fairweather & Geraldson and O'Sullivan, Graev & Karabell.

John S. Mahon: Vice President--Network Engineering

John S. Mahon is MFNS’ Vice President of Network Engineering. In addition, Mr.
Mahon has been MFN’s Vice President-Network Enginecring since 1994. Prior to joining
MFN, Mr. Mahon was employed by NYNEX (formerly known as New York Telephone
Company) from 1965 to 1994 as staff director for engineering design, construction and
maintenance of all telecommunications infrastructure in New York City.

Ron French; Vice President--Product Development

Ronald French has been MFNS’ Vice President of Marketing since June, 1998. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. French was employed as vice president of marketing from November
1994 to December 1997 by Merck-Medco Managed Care, L.1..C. Mr. French was a consultant
from December 1997 to June 1998 and was employed by Apple Computer Inc. as business
manager from 1988 to November 1994.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

(MARK ONE)

X/ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1988
OR

Fai TRANSITION REPCRT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT QF 1934 [NO FEE REQUIRED)

FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 000-23269

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC.
(Exact name of registrant, as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE 11-3168327
(State or other jurisdiction (I.R.S5. Employer
of incorporation or organization) Identification No.}

C/0 METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORE SERVICES, INC.
1 NORTH LEXINGTON AVENUE
WHITE PLAINS, NY 10601
(Address and zip code of principal executive offices)
{914) 421-6700
{(Registrant's telephone number, include area code)
SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 (B) OF THE ACT:
None
SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(G) OF THE ACT:
Class A Common Stock, par value $.01 per share

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports
required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes °X° No °_°

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item
405 of Regulation S$-K is not contained herein, and will nct be contained, to the
best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy cor information statements
incorperated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K. “X°

The aggregate market value of voting stock and non-voting common equity of
the registrant held by ncnaffiliates of the registrant was approximately
$2,693,000,000 as of March 11, 1999 based on the last reported bid gquotation on
the Nasdag National Market as of that date. For purposes of this calculation,
the wvalue of each share of Class B Common Stock of the registrant held by
non-affiliates was determined based on the value of one shkare of Class A Common
Stock as there is no established market for the Class B Common Stock and as each
share of Class B Common Stock is convertible into one share of Class A Common
Stock.

The number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding as of March 11,
1599 was 76,605,110. The number of shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding as
of March 11, 1999 was 16,884,636.
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DO&TS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions' of the Definitive Proxy Statement to be used in connection
with the Registrant's 1999 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, toc be held May 18,

1999, are incorpeorated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Form 10-K"),
including statements under "Item 1. Business," "Item 3 Legal Proceedings" and
"Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations,” constitute "forward-looking statements™ within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, an¢ Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1985 {(collectively, the "Reform Act"). Certain, but not
necessarily all, of such fcorward-looking statements can be identified by the use
of forward-looking terminology such as "believes," "expecis,” "may," "will,"
"should, " or "anticipates™ or the negative thereof or other variations therecn
or comparzble terminolegy, or by discussions of strategy that invelve risks and
uncertainties. Such forward-losking statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance
or achievements of Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(cocllectively, the "Company"™, "we™ or "us") to be materially different from any
future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such
forward~looking statements. Such factors include, but are not limited to, the
fellowing: general ecenomic and business conditions: competition in the
telecommunications industry; industry capacity; success of acquisitions and
operating initiatives; management of growth; dependence on senior management;
brand awareness; general risks of the telecommunications Industries; development
risk; risk relating to the availability of financing; the existence or absence
of adverse publicity; changes in business strategy or development plan;
availability, terms and deployment of capital: business abilities and judgment
of perscnnel; availability of gqualified personnel; labor and employee benefit
costs; changes in, or failure to comply with, government regulations;
construction schedules: the costs and other effects of legal and administrative
proceedings;: changes in methods of marketing and techneclogy; changes in
political, social and economic conditicns and other factors referenced in this
Form 10-K. The Company will not undertake and specifically declines any
obligation to publicly release the results of any revisions which may be'made to
any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date
of such statements or to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated
events.,

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
THE COMPANY

We are a facilities~based provider of technoleogically advanced,
high-bandwidth, fiber optic communicaticns infrastructure to carrier and
corporate/government customers in the United States and Europe.

THE INTRACITY NETWORKS. We have installed local intracity netweorks that as of
December 31, 1998, consisted of approximately 160,000 fiber miles (the number of
strands of fiber in a length of fiber optic cable multiplied by the length of
the cable in miles) covering approximately 400 route miles (the number of miles
spanned by fiber cptic cable calculated without ceounting more than once
physically overlapping segments of cable) in four major metropolitan areas (New
York, Philadelphia, Washington, D.C. and Chicago} that coastitute key
telecommunications markets among the 13 largest cities in the United States
based on population. We currently operate a high bandwidth fiber optic
communicaticns network in the New York metropolitan area and the greater
Philadelphia area and within the next two guarters will begin operating

such networks in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area.

We are currently planning to expand our existing lc:zal intracity networks
in these metropolitan areas,
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which will bring our total infrastructure in these markets tc approximately
357,000 fiber miles covering approximately 846 route miles. We have also begun
engineering and constructing networks in the San Francisce and Boston
metropelitan arcas.

Within the next two years, we plan Lo complete an expansion into five
additional markets: Los Angeles, Seattle, Dallas, Houston and Atlanta. We
anticipate that our total intracity network infrastructure, as currently
planned, will encompass ultimately approximately 810,000 Fiber miles covering
approximately 1,896 route miles. We are currently in the planning process for
construction of those networks.

THE INTERCITY NETWORKS. In addition to intracity networks in these 11 major
metrcpolitan areas, we are expanding the capacity of our intercity network
between the New York and Washington, D.C. metropolitan areas to a total of
approximately 180,000 fiber miles ceovering approximately 250 route miles. We
have also obtained, through exchanges of fiber capacity or "fiber swaps™ with
other carriers and in certain instances, the payment of certain additional
consideration, the right to use fiber optic strands linking New York-Chicago,
Chicago-Seattle-Portland and New York-Boston. These intercity networks give us
the ability to offer our customers capacity both within the 11 maijor
metropolitan areas where we will operate networks within the United States and
between many of these same markets,

TRANSATLANTIC CONNECTIVITY. We have entered into a 50/50 Joint venture, called
ION, with Racal Telecommunications, Inc., a United Kingdom manufacturer of
electronics and other equipment and a provider of telecommunications services.
Through this joint venture, we are able to offer our customers seamless
broadband connectivity between our New York network and London.

THE EUROPEAN NETWORKS. We also plan to offer cur customers an expanded presence
in Eurcpe through:

o} a jeint venture with Carrier 1 Holdings, Ltd. and Viatel, Inc. that
will engineer and construct, in excess of, a 1,350 route-mile fiber
optic telecommunications network in Germany connecting to 13 of its
largest cities, including Hamburg, Berlin, Murnich, Frankfurt and
Dusseldorf, (of which, following completion ¢f the German network,
cur joint venture with Carrier 1 and Viatel will dissclve and we
will end up owning our own conduit of fiber irfrastructure in
Germany} and

o] a fiber lease with Viatel under which we will receive the right to
use approximately 3,880 fiber miles covering approximately 970 route
miles of a broadband fiber optic network that will travel between
Germany, France, The Netherlands and the United Kingdom.

GENERAL. We focus on leasing or otherwise making available for use our broadband
communications infrastructure to two main customer groups: communications
carriers and corporate/government customers located in selected top 15 cities in
the United States kased con population (or "Tier I" markets}. Qur target carrier
customers include a broad range of communications companies such as:

s} incumbent local exchange carriers,

e} local exchange carriers competing with incumbent local exchange
carriers in the local services market,

o) long distance carriers,
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0 paging, cellular and PCS companies,
4
o cable companies, and
o vendors providing direct access to the Internet.

These carrier customers typically lease fiber optic capacity with which
they develop their own communications networks as a low-cost alternative to
building their own infrastructure or purchasing metered services from incumbent
local exchange carriers or facilities-based competing carriers in the local
services market. Our corporate and government customers typically lease fiber
optic infrastructure and other broadband services on a po.nt-to-point basis for
high-bandwidth, secure voice and data networks. We believe that we are
well-pecsitioned to penetrate the corporate and government markets since we plan
to continue to install most of our fiber in Tier I marketsi. Please refer to the
section entitled "--Customers."

The fiber communications infrastructure leased to ocur customers provides
high-bandwidth capacity for customers that seek to establish secure
communications networks for the transmission of large amounts of veice, data and
video. For example, a pair of our fiber optic strands can transmit up to B.6
gigabits of data per second or the equivalent of approximately 129,000
simultaneous voice conversations.

We talilor the amounts of capacity leased to the needs of our customers.
Certain customers that lease fiber optic capacity from us connect their own
transmission equipment to the leased fiber, and therefore obtain a fixed-cost,
secure telecommunications alternative to the metered communications services
offered by traditicnal providers. Other customers that require lesser amounts of
transmission capacity will have the option to lease a much smaller broadband
capacity on our netwocrk, as we are able to divide a single strand of fiber into
multiple smaller communications channels. We believe that we have installation,
operating, and maintenance cost advantages per fiber mile relative to our
competitors because we generally install our networks with 432 fibers and may
install as many as 864 fibers as compared to a generally lower number of fibers
in existing competitive networks.

Qur intracity networks support a self-healing SCONET (synchroncus cptical
network, which is an electronics and network architecture for variable bandwith
products which enables transmission of voice, data and video (multimedia) at
very high speeds) architecture that minimizes the risk of downtime in the event
of a fiber cut and provides our customers with high security and reliability. We
install most of our fiber inside high density polyethylene conduit to protect
the cable and, where practicable, we install additional unused conduits to
accommodate future network expansion.

We benefit from the support of our controlling stoccholder, Metromedia
Company. On April 30, 1997, Metromedia Company and certain of its affiliates
made a substantial equity investment in Metromedia Fiber Network. Metromedia
Company and its partners own all of the outstanding shares of Class B Common
Stock. The Class B Common Stock is entitled to 10 votes per share and to vote
separately to slect at least 75% of the members of the Board of Directors. As a
result, Metromedia Company and its partners own and contr2l approximately 64% of
the outstanding voting power (on a fully diluted basis) of Metromedia Fiber
Network.

Metromedia Fiber Network was founded in 1993 and is a Delaware
corporation.
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Financial informatio!about the Company may be found in 'I!em 7.
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations" and "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data“ of this
Form 10Q-K.

BUILD~-CUT OF NETWORKS

We have concentrated on developing and constructing our networks. As we
discuss in more detail below we have either cobtained or are currently pursuing
the acquisition of necessary licenses, franchises and rights-cof-way to construct
these networks. In censtructing cur fiber coptic networks, we seek to create
strategic alliances with the engineering and construction management firms that
have been engaged to develop routes and easements and manage deployment plans.
Firms with which we are allied in this regard have deployed local loop network
infrastructure for regional Bell operating companies as well as for competing
carriers in the local services markets. Though we anticipate outscurcing much of
the actual construction to various construction firms, we maintain strict
oversight of the design and implementation of our fiber optic communications
networks. We utilize only commercially available advanced fiber. We have ordered
a substantial portion of our fiber optic cable frem Lucent Technologies, Inc.
However, we believe that we could cbtain advanced fiber from other suppliers on
acceptable terms.

We intend tec finance the build-out of our networks with the net proceeds
we received from the November 25, 1998 issuance and sale of $650.0 million
principal amount of 10% Senior Notes, additional cash on-tand and cash generated
from the sale of capacity on our networks, including substantial up-front
payments for certain long term leases and rights to use agreements, which are
already under ceontract. Please see Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Liguidityv and Capital
Resources."

THE NEW YORK NETWCORK. When complete, our intracity network in the New York/New
Jersey metropolitan area as currently planned will be approximately 169,400
fiber miles covering approximately 440 route miles. As expanded, the entire New
York/New Jersey network will create a SONET capable fiber ring focused in
Manhattan and extending into each of the other four boroughs, as well as east to
Brookhaven, Long Island, north teo Stamford, Connecticut, and west to Northern
and Central New Jersey.

THE PHILADELPHIA NETWORK. When complete, our network in the Philadelphia
metropelitan area as currently planned will be approximately 29,000 fiber miles
covering approximately 67 route miles. As completed, the entire Philadelphia
network will create a SONET capable fiber ring throughout Center City
Philadelphia as well as the surrounding areas of Bala-Cynwyd, Bryn Mawr, Radnor,
Berwyn, Paoli, Malvern and King of Prussia.

THE WASHINGTON, D.C. NETWORK. When complete, our network in the Washington, D.C.
metropelitan area as currently planned will be approximately 55,000 fiber miles
covering approximately 127 route miles. As completed, the entire Washington
network will create a SONET capable fiber ring throughout Washington, D.C. and
will extend to vital government and business centers in Arlington, Fairfax, the
Dulles airport area, Bethesda, Rockville, S8ilver Spring and other locaticns in
northern Virginia and suburban Maryland.

THE CHICAGC NETWORK. When complete, our network in the Chicago metropolitan area
as currently planned will be approximately 104,000 fiber niles covering
approximately 212 route miles. As completed, the entire Chicago network will
create a SONET capable fiber ring throughout Chicage and will extend to Oak
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Brook, Dewners Grove, Franklin Park, Arlington Heights, Des Plalnes, Rosemont,
Schaumburg and O'Hare Airport.

THE OTHER INTRACITY NETWORKS. Subject to the receipt of the necessary
franchises, licenses and rights-of-way, we plan to construct additional fiber
optic communications networks in San Francisco, Boston, Los Angeles, Seattle,
Dallas, Houston and Atlanta. Although we cannot assure you that we will obtain
the necessary franchises, licenses and rights-cf-way in these cities or that
these franchises, licenses and rights-of-way will provide all of the rights
needed to implement our strategy on acceptable terms, we are not aware of any
reason why we will not be able to obtain such franchises, licenses and
rights-of-way and we plan to construct our

networks in these cities in a manner similar tc our existing networks.
Construction is underway in the San Francisco and the Beoston metropolitan
areas. When complete, our network in the San Francisce metropolitan area as
currently planned will be approximately 65,000 fiber miles covering
approximately 150 route miles with a SONET capable fiber ring through San
Francisco, Oakland and San Jose. When complete, our network in the Boston
metropolitan area as currently planned will be approximately 32,000 fiber
miles covering approximately 75 route miles with a SONET capable fiber ring
through Boston, Cambridge, Burlington, Bedford, Lexington and

Walthem. We are currently in the planning process for the construction of the
other intracity networks. In January 1999, we entered inte an agreement to
acquire a provider of dark fiber that is constructing an intracity network in
Dallas. This acquisition was completed on March 11, 19%99.

THE INTERCITY NETWORKS. We are in the process of completing the construction
of the first 432 cable for our intercity network between New York City and
Washingteon, D.C. When we complete its construction, this intercity network
will cover approximately 180,000 fiber miles over approximately 250 route
miles. When completed, this network will extend from New ¥York to Washington,
D.C. and will pass through Philadelphia, Pennsylwvania, Wilmington, Delaware,
and Baltimore, Maryland. We have obtained all of the necessary rights-of-way
for this network.

We have also obtained, through exchanges of fiber capacity or "fiber
swaps"™ with cther carriers and the payment of certain other consideration, the
right to use fiber optic strands linking New York and Chicago, Chicago and
Seattle, Seattle and Portland and New York and Boston. As a result of these
transactions, we have obtained approximately 33,000 fiber miles covering
approximately 4,474 route miles of broadband fiber optic capacity. We believe we
have the ability to lease broadband capacity between our intracity networks that
will enhance our ability to market our intracity networks to both our carrier
and corporate customers. These intercity network agreements will give us the
ability to offer ocur customers not only capacity within 1! major metropolitan
areas within the United States but also seamless connectivity from ceast to
coast.

THE INTERNATIONAL NETWORKS. We have entered into a forty-vear agreement with a
subsidiary of Racal Telecommunications, Inc., & United Kirgdom manufacturer of
electronics and other equipment and a provider of telecommunications services,
to create ION, a joint venture in which we hold a 50% equity interest. ION has
obtained transatlantic fiber optic cable rights on Gemini and AC-1, which link
our New York network to London, England. Through ION, we are able to offer our
customers seamless broadband transatlantic communications services between New
York and London. Under the ION jeoint venture agreement, each party may
contribute additional capital as agreed by the parties. As of December 31, 1998,
we had made capital contributions of approximately $4.3 million to ION. In May
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1598, ICN was awarded a 25!ear contract providing for paymentsln excess of $25

million from a leading provider of undersea cable capacity to provide inland
capacity services from such provider's undersea cable landing stations in the
U.K. and the U.53,.

We have entered intc an agreement with Carrier 1 and Viatel to develop,
jeintly, the German network of approximately 64,800 fiber miles covering
approximately 1,350 route miles. The German network will :~nclude 13 of Germany's
largest cities such as Hamburg, Berlin, Munich, Frankfurt and Dusseldorf. We
have zlso entered into an additional agreement to acquire fiber optic capacity
from Viatel. Under this second agreement, we will receive the right to use
approximately 3,880 fiber miles covering approximately 970 route miles on the
Eurcpean network that will travel between France, Germany, The Netherlands and
the United Kingdom. We anticipate that both the German network and the European
network will be high-capacity breoadband networks capable of supporting
high-quality veoice, wvidec, Internet protoccl and data traffic and built using a
self-healing SONET architecture. Following completion of the German network, our
joint venture with Carrier 1 and Viatel would dissolve and we would end up
owning our own conduit of fiber infrastructure in Germany. We believe that the
German network will be completed in stages with the first segment available by
the third quarter of 19%9.

TECHNOLOGY

Cur networks consist of fiber optic communications networks which allow
for high speed, high quality transmission of voice, data and video. Fiber cptic
systems use laser-generated light to transmit voice, data and video in digital
formats through ultra-thin strands of glass. Fiber optic systems are generally
characterized by large circuit capacity, good sound quality, resistance to
external signal interference and direct interface to digital switching equipment
or digital microwave systems.

We plan to install backbone fiber optic cables containing up to 864 fiber
optic strands, which have significantly greater bandwidth than traditional
analog copper cables. Using current electronic transmitting devices, a single
pair of glass fibers used by our network can transmit up Lo 8.6 gigabits of data
per second or the equivalent of approximately 129,000 simultaneous voice
conversations, which is substantially more than traditional analog copper cable
installed in many current communicatiocns netwerks. We believe that continuing
developments in compression technology and multiplexing eguipment will increase
the capacity of each fiber optic strand, thereby providing more bandwidth
carrying capacity at relatively low incremental costs. Our network is capable of
using the highest commercially available capacity transmission (CCl19%92) and
thereby can handle advanced, capacity-intensive data applications such as voice
over Internet Protocol, video teleconferencing, Frame Relay, ATM, multimedia and
Internet-related applications.

In cur intracity networks, we offer end-to-end fiber optic capaclity,
capable of utilizing SONET ring architecture, which has the ability to route
customer traffic in either direction around its ring design thereby assuring
that fiber cuts do not interrupt service to customers on our netwerks. Our
networks are also capable of supporting DWDM (dense wave division
multiplexing). Currently, a state-cf-the-art network operating system
continuously monitors and maintains quality contrel of networks on a 24-hour
basis, alerts us of any degradation or loss of fiber capacity and pinpoints
the location of such degradaticn. This network operating system alsc enables
us to repair or replace impaired fiber without any loss of service. In
addition, the monitoring system automatically rercutes traffic in the event
of a catastrophic break in the system, enabling us to ensure that ocur
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customers obtain continuous service.
FRANCHISE, LICENSE AND RELATED AGREEMENTS

When we decide to build a fiber optic communications network, our
corporate development stzaff seeks to eobtain the necessary rights-of-way and
governmental authorizaticns. In some jurisdictions, a ceonstruction permit is
all that is required. In other jurisdictions, a license agreement, permit or
franchise is also required. Such licenses, permits and franchises are
generally for a term of limited duration. Where possible, rights-cf-way are
leased under multi-year agreements with renewal options and are generally
non-exclusive. We lease underground conduit and pole space and other
rights-of-way from entities such as ILECs, utilities, railroads, IXCs, state
highway authorities, local governments and transit author-.ties., We strive to
obtain rights-of-way that afford us the opportunity to expand our
cemmunications networks as business develops. We currently have all
rights-cf-way and other authorizations necessary for our existing intra-city
networks in the New York, Philadelphia, and Chicago metropolitan areas.

NEW YORK. We have entered into a 15-year nonexclusive franchise agreement with
the City of New York to install, operate, repair, maintain, remove and replace
cable, wire, fiber or other transmission media that may be used in lieu of
cable, wire or fiber on, over and under the inalienable property of the City of
New York in order to provide telecommunications services which originate and/or
terminate in c¢or transit the City of New York. This agreement expires in December
2008 and provides that we may submit a written petition o the City of New

York to renew the term of the franchise at least 12 months (but not more than 18
months) before the expiration of the 15-year term. However, the City of New York
has no obligation to renew this agreement. We believe that the City of New York
has granted approximately 11 franchises to date. However, we are not aware of
any limit on the number of franchises that the City of New York may grant and
believe that the City of New York has begun the process that will result in the
awarding of additional licenses.

This agreement requires us to provide the City of New York with certain
telecommunications infrastructure and, by November 1%92, to complete
construction of our initial network as described in the acreement. We believe
that we are on schedule to complete such construction by Wovember 15%9, On
December 21, 1998, this agreement was amended to extend tre period of time to
June 30, 2001 to complete construction of the initial backbone to the borough of
Staten Island.

Both the City of New York and we have the right, at any one time after
December 20, 2000, upon six months notice, to renegotiate in good faith certain
terms of this agreement, including the annual ccompensatior payable to the City
of New York, based on changes in techneolegical, regulatory or market conditions
which may occur after the effective date of the agreement. If we cannct reach an
agreement upon any such renegotiations, the agreement will be subject toc early
termination on a date, which would be one half of the number of days between the
date of the notice to renegotiate and January 1, 2009.

Under the agreement, we are obligated te pay the City of New York an
annual franchise fee at a rate of 5% of gross revenues for each year of the
franchise. All revenues received directly or indirectly by us or any of our
affiliates from or in connection with telecommunications services which
originate in, terminate in or transit the City of New York constitute "gross
revenues" for purposes of the agreement. Revenues that are generated from
transmissions, which transit the City of New York, but also include transmission
through other areas, are to be prorated. We are cbligated to pay a minimum
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franchise fee to the City O New York of $200,000 per year.

The agreement reguires that we obtain the consent of the City of New York
for any acquisition of 5% or more of the shares of the Company by any person
other than Mr. Stephen A. Garofalo, Metromedia Company, Mr. Howard M.
Finkelstein, Mr. Peter Sahagen or any other 5% stockholde:r on the date of the
consummation of our initial public offering.

We entered into a nonexclusive condult occupancy agreement with Bell
Atlantic Corporation in May 1993. This agreement autheorizes us to install ocur
cable facilities in Bell Atlantic's condult system throughout the State of New
York. We are required to pay Bell Atlantic certain rates and charges pursuant to
the terms of this agreement. This cenduit occupancy agreenent is terminable
without cause by either party upon three months' written notice. Under certain
circumstances, a petition may be brought to the Public Services Commission
requesting that it decide a dispute arising over termination prior to the
termination of this conduit occupancy agreement.

Cn June 16, 1958, we entered into a nonexclusive franchise agreement with
the City of White Plains, New York, that grants us the necessary rights for cur
expanded New York/New Jersey network in the White Plains area. Under this
agreement, we are obligated to pay the City of White Plains an annual franchise
fee at the rate of 5% of gross revenues generated from the network within the
White Plains area for fifteen years, renewable c¢cnce. We do not anticipate that
this fee will result in a material cost to us. Upon termination of this
agreement, ownership of the telecommunications network in the White Plains area
will revert to the City of White Plains at fair market wvalue.

PHILADELPHIA. We have obtained all necessary rights-of-way and authorizations
for the Philadelphia network in the Philadelphia metropolitan area under an
ordinance from the City of Philadelphia. The ordinance allows us, subject to
certain conditions to be set forth under a license agreemant being currently
negotiated with the City of Philadelphia, to censtruct, maintain and operate,
replace and remove a telecommunications system in, under and across the
public rights-of-way and city streets and/or to place such telecommunications
system within the existing facilities owned by Bell Atlantic, PECO Energy
Company, Southeastern Pennsylvania Transpeortation Authority, Consolidated
Rail Corporation or any other entity holding a grant by way of ordinances
from the City of Philadelphia within the Philadelphia metropolitan area.

CHICAGO. In Chicago, we have also obtained the required franchises, licenses,
permits and other agreements needed to complete our Chicago network, In
addition, we have entered into agreements with various entities, which provide
us with infrastructure of approximately 4,300 fiber miles along approximately 40
route miles on key routes within our Chicago market, in addition to the
necessary easements and rights-of-way for the Chicago network.

WASHINGTON D.C. In Washington, D.C., we have obtained rigltts-of-way and
authorizaticns for the Washington network in the District of Columbia under a
Certificate of Public Convenience and are in the process of obtaining all
necessary permits for the network in the downtown area. We do not anticipate any
difficulty in cbtaining such permits. We are currently negotiating the necessary
franchise agreements with certain municipalities that make up part of the
expanded Washington network.

We are currently pursuing our efforts to obtain all rights-of-way and
authorizations for the build-out of our networks in Los Argeles, San Francisco,
Bosten, Seattle, Dallas, Houston and Atlanta. We have recently signed a ccenduit
agreement within the Bay Area Rapid Transit and SAMTRANS right-of-ways for
portions of the network in the San Francisco area, and have obtained the
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necessary permits for our iMtracity network in the downtown San Francisco area,
In January 1999, we entered into an agreement to acquire a provider of dark
fiber that is constructing an intracity network in Dallas. This acquisition was
completed on March 11, 1989,

SALES AND MARKETING
Our sales and marketing strategy includes:

e} positioning ourselves as the preferred carriers' carrier of
broadband communications infrastructure,

o focusing on high dollar volume corporate and government customers,
and
o emphasizing the cost advantages which will allow us to lease our

fiber optic infrastructure at fixed prices whoch represent
potentially significant savings for our large velume carrier and
corporate customers relative to their present build or buy
alternatives.

We also believe that communications carriers and corporate and government
customers will be attracted to our dark fiber product and our unmetered pricing
structure. Dark fiber is installed fiber optic cable which is not otherwise
carrying a signal originated by the service provider (i.e., Metromedia Fiber
Network), but which will carry a signal generated by the customer. We intend
initially to centralize ocur sales and marketing efforts on carrier customers
through a naticnal sales team and we are currently in the process of hiring
additicnal sales professiconals to focus on these customers. As we have
constructed fiber optic networks in new cities, we have hired sales forces in
these areas to target regional corporate, government and, teo a lesser extent,
carrier customers and we plan to continue this strategy.

10

CUSTOMERS

CARRIERS. We expect that communications carriers will account for a
majority of our business, in the near term. We currently target the major
carriers, such as resellers, data services, regiocnal Bell operating companies,
long distance carriers, competing local exchange carriers, vendors providing
direct access to the Internet, wireless providers, and major information service
providers. We believe that we can compete effectively with other providers due
to our rapid deployment, pricing, reliability, customer service and the capacity
of our networks. We traditionally lease dark fiber to comnunications carriers,
providing them with point-to-peoint and long distance carriers point of presence
to end user non-switched access, which connects their customers to our network.
This enables them tec eliminate or reduce costly access chirges.

We have entered into contracts with approximately 13 communications
carriers, including providers of wireless, cellular, Internet, interexchange and
competitive local exchange services, as of January 1, 19929. In addition, we are
currently in the process of negotiating agreements with c=rtain other major
communications carriers and will continue to target such carriers in the future.

NEXTLINK AGREEMENTS. In June 19%7 and February 1998, we entered into two major
agreements with NextLink New York, L.L.C. ("NextLink"} a competitive local
exchange carrier, which provide NextLink with certain exclusive long-term rights
to certain fiber strands and innerducts on specified intracity routes.

Pursuant to the agreements, we received $11.0 million in scheduled
up-front payments with respect té one agreement and will receive an additional
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392.0 million in additionegayments from NextLink with rez:specg the second
agreement. Of the $92.0 million, $11.75 million was paid up-front and $80.25
million has been placed in escrow and will be released to us periodically as
delivery of the fibers and innerducts are completed during 1999 in accordance
with the agreement. '

We have also entered into an agreement with NextlLink Illinois, Ine. which
provides for the sharing of certain construction costs in connection with the
build-out of ocur Chicago network.

WINSTAR AGREEMENTS. We are a party to agreements with Winftar Communications,
Inc., a national competitive local exchange carrier, for long term leasas of
high-capacity fiber optic infrastructure on cur intracity networks in the New
York, Washington, D.C., Philadelphia, Chicage and San Frarcisco areas and on our
intercity network from New York to Washington, D.C. Pursuant to the agreements,
we will receive in excess of $40.0 million in payments from WinStar.

CORPCRATE/GCVERNMENT CUSTOMERS. We expect that our corporate and government
customers, including members of the international financial and commercial
community, will primarily be entities with multiple lccations and high volume
communications requirements. We expect to provide these customers with dedicated
point-to-point communications that have the capacity to carry a wide range of
communications services (e.g., high speed intranet access}. We offer our
high-bandwidth services to such customers at prices that are lower than those
currently offered by regulated competitive local exchange carriers and incumbent
local exchange carriers. However, our customers currently provide their own
transmission or switching equipment.

We believe that we can effectively compete for corporate and government
customers based upon price, nonmetered usage, reliability and solutions tailored
to the customers’ needs. In addition, our New York/New Jersey and Philadelphia
networks utilize, and the other intracity networks will permit use of, SONET
technology, which cffers reliability that we believe is generally superior to
that provided by the incumbent local exchange
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carriers. We currently have dark fiber infrastructure leasing arrangements with
a variety of financial services firms, including investment and commercial
banks, securities and accounting firms and a financial exchange, although we
have not yet completed installation of the dark fiber to he leased pursuant to
certain of the contracts.

COMPETITICN

Fiber optic systems are currently under construction both locally and
nationally. In New York City, for example, we believe thal approximately 11
franchisees have been granted the right to install and operate a
telecommunications network within the city. Development of fiber optic
networks is alsc continuing on a national scale. The construction of these
networks enables their owners to lease access to their networks to other
communications carriers or large corporate or government customers seeking
high bandwidth capacity, without these custeomers having to incur costly
expenditures associated with building networks cf their own. Alternatively,
some network owners may choose to use their infrastructure to provide
switched voice and data services, competing directly with incumbent local
exchange carriers and long distance carriers. Currently, we do not provide
such services or plan to provide such services.

In New York City, Philadelphia, Washington, D.C., and the other cities
where we plan to depleoy fiber optic communications networks, we face
significant competition from the incumbent local exchange carriers, which
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currently dominate their k,al communications markets. We also?ce
competition from competitive local exchange carriers and other potential
competitors in these markets and will face competition in the cities in which
we plan to build ocur networks. Many of our competitors have financial,
management and other resources substantially greater than ours, as well as
other competitive advantages over us, including established reputations in
the communications market.

Various communications carriers already own fiber optic cables as part of
their communications networks. Accordingly, each of these carriers could, and
some do, compete directly with us. in the market for leasing fiber capacity. In
addition, although competitive local exchange carriers generally provide a wider
array cf services to their customers than we presently provide to cur customers,
competitive local exchange carriers nevertheless represent an alternative means
by which our potential customers could obtain direct access to a long distance
carrier point of presence or other site of the customer's choosing. Thus,
competitive local exchange carriers cculd compete with us.

Some communications carriers and local cable companies have extensive
networks in place that could be upgraded to fiber optic cable, as well as
numercus personnel and substantial resources to undertake the requisite
construction to 50 equip their networks. To the extent that communications
carriers and local cable companies decide to equip their networks with fiber
optic cable, they are potential direct competitors provided that these
competitors are willing to offer this capacity to all of their customers.

We believe that as competiticn in the local exchange market develops, a
fundamental division between the needs of corporate, governmental and
institutional end users and residential end users will drive the creation of
differentiated communications services and service providers. We believe that
the competitive local exchange carriers, long distance carcriers, vendors
providing direct access to the Internet, wireless carriers and corporate and
government customers eon which we focus will have distinct reguirements,
including maximum reliability, consistent high guality transmissions, capacity
for highspeed data transmissions, diverse routing and responsive customer
service. We believe that we will be able to continue to satisfy the needs of
such customers. )
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REGULATION

As explained in the section entitled "Business--The Company,” we plan to
offer telecommunications infrastructure te customers in two forms., First,
customers may lease fiber optic capacity from us and attach their own
transmission equipment (we call this "dark fiber"). Second, custcomers will have
the option to lease smaller amounts of broadband capacity {iess than a full
strand of fiber} of facilities where we operate our own transmission equipment
(we call this "transmissicn services"). These two offerinys are subject to
varying degrees of regulation in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate.
In the United States, some aspects of our services are rejulated by the Federal
Communications Commission and varicus State regulatery bodies. In other
countries where we operate we may alsc be subject to regulations by the agencies
having jurisdiction over the provision of telecommunications services.

FEDERAL

In the United States, federal telecommunications law directly shapes the
market in which we compete. Telecommunications facilities and services are
subject to varying degrees of regulation by the Federal Communications
Commission pursuant to the provisions of the Communicaticns Act of 1934, as
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amended by the Telecommuni!ions Act of 1996 and the Federal Communications
Commission regulations issued under these laws.

Federal telecommunications law imposes special legal requirements on
"common carriers" who engage in "interstate or foreign communication by wire or
radio," and on "telecommunications carriers.”™ Telecommunications carriers and
common carriers are essentially the same, and are companies that provide
communications services "directly to the public” or to all potential users on an
indiscriminate bkasis subject to standardized rates, terms, and conditions.

DARK FIBER. We believe that we are not a "telecommunications carrier" or “"common
carrier" with respect to our leasing of dark fiber, and therefore that these
leases are not subject to special legal requirements applicable to such
carriers. First, we do not believe that the leasing of dark fiber is a
"telecommunications service™ that is subject to Federal Communications
Commission regulation. The Federal Communications Commission generally regulates
"communication by wire or radie" or the "transmission" of "information of the
users' choosing," neither of which describes the leasing of dark fiber. Second,
we do not intend to offer dark fiber facilities as a common carrier, I.E., to
all potential users on an indiscriminate basis. Instead, we intend to enter into
individualized negotiations on a selective basis with prospective lessees of our
dark fiber to determine whether and on what terms to serve each potential
lessee. Our dark fiber offerings should therefore not be subject to the common
carrier jurisdiction of the Federal Communicaticns Commission or to the common
carrier provisions of the Communications Act of 1934.

If our offering of dark fiber facilities were deemetl to constitute
"telecommunications," then our revenues from such leases to end users {(but not
to other telecommunication carriers), whether or not provided on a common
carrier basis, would become subject to assessment for the Federal Communications
Commission’'s Universal Service Fund, a fund that was established by the Federal
Communications Commission pursuant to the Telecommunications Act of 1996 to
assist in ensuring the universal availability of basic telecommunications
services at affordable prices. Such assessments could create a liability egual
to a percentage of these gross revenues. We anticipate that the rate of
assessment would be approximately 4% of gross interstate and 1% of gross
intrastate end-user revenues for the year 1999, and may be higher in subsequent
years, We may also be liable for assessments by state commissions for state
universal service programs.

TRANSMISSION SERVICES. With respect to our offering of telecommunications
transmission services, we will likely offer some of these services as a common
carrier (I.E., we will offer such transmission services to all potential
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users indiscriminately) and, therefore, will be subject to the regulatory
requirements applicable to these carriers. For example, we will be required,
with respect to our transmission services, to (1) provide such services
indiscriminately upon any reasonable request; (2) charge rates and adopt
practices, classifications and regulations that are just and reasonable; and (3}
avoid unreascnable discrimination in charges, practices, regulations, facilities
and services. We may also be required to file tariffs setiing forth the rates
for our services. Under current Federal Communications Commission policies,
these regulatory requirements should net impose any substantial burdens on us.
The Federal Communications Commissicn has recently determined, for example, that
providers of "access" services (intracity transmission services used to
originate and/or terminate interstate and foreign communications) need not file
tariffs and may offer such services to customers con a private, contractual
basis. Our revenues from transmission services will also he subject to Federal
Communications Commission Universal Service Fund assessments as discussed above,
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to the extent that these s!vices are purchased by end users an! to other

Federal Communications Commission fees and assessments. S:nce the revenues of
cur competitors will be subject to comparable assessments, this should not
reduce our competitiveness.

Also, having some of our services regulated as a "telecommunications
carrier" will give us certain legal benefits. Tn particular, we will be
entitled, like other competing local exchange carriers, to insist upon access to
the existing telecommunications infrastructure by intercennecting our
fiber-cptic networks with incumbent local exchange carrier central offices and
other facilities. Under the Telecommunications Act of 1996, incumbent local
exchange carriers must, among other things: (i) interconnect at any technically
feasible point and provide service equal in guality te that provided to others,
(i1} provide unbundled access to network elements, and (i:i) provide access to
their poles, ducts, conduits and other rights-of-way.

Incumbent local exchange carriers must alsc provide "physical collocation”
for other telecommunications carriers. Physical collocation is an offering by an
incumbent local exchange carrier that enables another telecommunications carrier
to enter the incumbent local exchange carrier's premises to install, maintain
and repair its own eguipment that is necessary for interconnection or access
te the incumbent local exchange carrier's network elements. An incumbent
local exchange carrier azllocates reasonable amounts of space to carriers on a
first-come, first-served basis. If space limitations or practical or
technical reascns prohibit physical collocationn, an incumbent lccal exchange
carrier must offer "virtual collocation,” by which the other carrier may
specify incumbent local exchange carrier's equipment to be dedicated to its
use and electronically moniter and control communications terminating in such
equipment. We intend, in some instances, to collocate portions of our network
on the premises of certain incumbent local exchange carriers., Qur ability to
do this on a cost-effective basis will depend on the rates, terms and
conditions established for ccllocation, which will be established by state
regulators in arbitration proceedings and therefore may vary from one state
to the next.

The Federal Communications Commission has responsibility under the
interconnection provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 to determine
what elements of an incumbent local exchange carrier's network must be
provided to competitors on an unbundled basis. The Federal Communications
Commission has decided not to declare dark fiber an unbundled network element
under these provisions, but has announced that state commissions may decide
to add network elements to the Federal Communications Commission's list of
elements that incumbent carriers are required to unbundle. To date, state
commissions in several states (including New York) have either refused to
require the incumbent local exchange carriers to coffer dark fiber to
competitors or have stated that the issue would be addressed at a later time.
On the other hand, other state commissions have found dar< fiber to be a
network element and required the incumbent local exchange carriers to cffer
it on an unbundled basis to competitive local exchange carriers. This
decision is currently subject to petitions for reconsideration before the
Federal Communications Commission. In addition, a federal district court in
North Careclina has interpreted the Telecommunications Act of 1996 to include
dark fiber as a network element.
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However, the U.S5. Supreme Court recently directed the Federal
Communications Commission to change its rules defining unoundled network
elements, because the existing rules fail to recognize statutory limits to
the incumbent carriers' unbundling obligation. The decisions described above
may have to be reconsidered once the FCC completes this rsview of its rules.
Although we cannot predict the specific results of future federal and state
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regulatory proceedings, i1! likely that the Supreme Court wil! result in a
narrowing, rather than an expansion, of the available unbundled network
elements. This development should be beneficial to us, because unbundling of
incumpbent carriers' dark fiber as a network element could reduce the demand
for our dark fiber capacity.

Incumbent local exchange carriers, competing local exchange carriers and
long distance carriers are subject to additional federal telecommunications
laws. These laws may affect our business by virtue of the interrelationships
that exist among us and many of these regulated telecommunications entities., For
example, The Federal Communications Commission recently issued an order
reguiring, among other things, that access charges (fees charged by incumbent
local exchange carriers to long distance carriers for use of local telephone
facilities for the origination and termination of long-distance calls) shift in
part from being usage driven toc a fixed flat cost-based siructure. The Federal
Communications Commission has alsoc asked for public comments on proposed rules
that would grant incumbent local exchange carriers greater pricing flexibility
for their access services (both switched and non-switched), which may permit the
incumbent local exchange carriers to ccmpete more effectively against some of
our service offerings. While it is not possible to predici the precise effect
the access charge changes will have on our business or financial condition, the
reforms will reduce access charges paid by long distance carriers, likely making
the use of incumbent local exchange carriers facilities by long distance
providers/interexchange carriers more attractive, which could have a material
adverse effect on the use of cur fiber optic telecommunications networks by long
distance carriers.

STATE

The Telecommunications Act of 19%6 prohibits state and local governments
from enforcing any law, rule or legal requirement that prohibits or has the
effect of prohibiting any person from providing any interstate or intrastate
telecommunications service, This provision of the Telecommunicaticns Act of 1996
should enable us and our customers tc provide telecommunications services in
states that previcusly prohibited competitive entry.

However, states retain jurisdiction under the Telecommunications Act of
1996 to adopt regulations necessary to preserve universal service, protect
public safety and welfare, ensure the continued guality of communications
services and safeguard the rights of consumers.

States continue to determine the rates that incumbent leocal exchange
carriers can charge for most of their services. They are alsoc responsible for
mediating and arbitrating incumbent local excheange carriers' interconnection
arrangements with other carriers if woluntary agreements are not reached.
Accordingly, state involvement in local telecommunications services is
substantial.

Each state {(and the District of Columbia, which is treated as a state for
the purpcse of regulation of telecommunications services) has its own statutory
scheme for regulating providers of certain telecommunications-related services
as "common carriers," as "public utilities," or under similar rubrics. As with
the federal regulatory scheme, we believe that the offering of dark fiber
facilities is not subject to this type of regulation in mest jurisdictions, in
which we currently have or plan to construct facilities. Our offering of
transmission services (as distinct from dark fiber capacity), however, will
likely be subject to regulation in each of these jurisdictions to the extent
that these services are offered for intrastate use. Even though many of our
facilities will be physically intrastate, we anticipate tlhat most customers will
use our facilities and services for the purpose of originating and/or
terminating interstate and foreign communications. Under current Federal
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Communications Commission licies, any dedicated transmission service or
facility that is used more than 10% of the time for the purpose of interstate or
foreign communicaticn is subject to Federal Ceommunications Commission
jurisdiction to the exclusion of any state regulation. Thzrefore, only a small
portion of our business should be subject to state regulation.

State regulation of the telecommunications industry is changing rapidly,
and the regulatory environment varies substantially from state to state. Qur
subsidiaries are currently autherized to provide intrastate telecommunications
services in California, Connecticut, Delaware, District of Columbia, Illinois,
Maryland, Massachusetts, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island,
Virginia, and Washington, and have an application pending in Oregon. At present,
we do not anticipate that the regulatory requirements to which we will be
subject in the states in which we currently intend to operate will have any
material adverse effect on cur operations. These regulations may reguire, among
other things, that we obtain certification to operate, and that we provide
notification of, or obtain authorization for, certain corporate transactions. We
will incur certain costs to comply with these and other regulatory requirements
such as the filing of tariffs, submission of pericdic financial and operational
reports to regulaters, and payment of regulatory fees and assessments, including
contributions to state universal service programs. In some jurisdictions, our
pricing flexibility for intrastate services may be limited because of
regulaticn, although our direct competitors will be subject to similar
restrictions. However, we make no assurances that future regulatory, judicial,
or legislative action will not materially adversely affect us.

As a result of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Bell Atlantic
"unbundled" its local loop in October 1996. This enables carriers such as us
to gain access to Bell Atlantic's existing wiring infrastructure in buildings
on an economical basis, which we believe enhances the strategic value of the
New York/New Jersey network to potantial customers. By wvirtue of the
unbundling, Bell Atlantic must make a significant portion of its in-house
apartment wiring available for $2 per month per apartment. We expect that the
availability of an unbundled local loop will enable new carriers to enter the
residential veoice market on a competitive basis with Bell Atlantic, and these
carriers will be potential customers for our services.

LOCAL

In addition to federal and state laws, local governments exercise legal
authority that may impact our business. For example, local governments, such as
the City of New York, typically retain the ability to license public
rights-of-way, subject to the limitation that local governments may not prohibit
persons from providing telecommunications sérvices. Local authorities affect the
timing and costs associated with our use of public rights-of-way. These
reguiations may have an adverse effect on our business.

FEDERAL REGULATION OF INTERNATIONAL SERVICE

Various regulatory requirements and limitations also will influence ocur
business as it attempts to enter international markets. Although we have not
fully determined our specific international business stralegy, we have
entered intc a 50/50 joint wventure, ION, with a subsidiary of Racal
Telecommunications that contemplates jointly acquiring and selling
international, facilities-based telecommunications capacity between the U.S,
and the United Kingdom and possibly between the U.8. and other markets. TON
is an U.S. internaticnal common carrier subject to U.S5. regulation under
Title II of the Communications Act of 1934, and we have also applied to become
an U.S. international common carrier subject to the same regulations. Under
current Federal Communications Commission rules, internaticnal carriers that
do not exercise market power and that are not affiliated with dominant
foreign carriers (carriers possessing market power in their local markets)
are subject to relatively relaxed U.S. regulation as non-dominant
international
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carriers. As such a non-dominant common carrier, ION is aand we will be
subject to, among other policies, the common carrier obligations of
nondiscrimination. In addition, Federal Communications Commission rules
prohibit U.S. carriers from bargaining for special concessions from certain
foreign partners. ION is and we will be required, under Sections 214 and 203
of the Communications Act of 1334 to obtain authorization and file an
international service tariff containing rates, terms and conditions prieor to
initiating service. As a non-dominant carrier, ION has received and we have
applied for "global" authorization under Section 214 to operate as
facilities-based and/or resale carriers. International carriers are also
subject toc certain annual fees and filing requirements, such as the
requirement to file contracts with other carriers, includ.ng foreign carrier
agreements, and reports setting forth internaticnal circu:.t, traffic and
revenue data. Failure to obtain an appropriate U.S8. license for internaticnal
service or the revocation of a license could materially adversely affect our
future operations.

To the extent that we and ION operate as international common carriers, we
and ION may alsc be reguired to comply with the Federal Communications
Commission’s International Settlement Pclicy which defines the permissible
boundaries for U.S8. carriers and their foreign correspondents to settle the cost
of terminating each other's traffic over their respective networks. The
International Settlement Policy is designed to eliminate a foreign carrier's
opportunity to discriminate among different U.S. carriers by bargaining for
accounting rates or cother terms that benefit the foreign carrier but is
inconsistent with the U.S. public interest. The International Settlement Policy
generally provides that U.S5. carriers may only enter inte foreign carrier
agreements for the exchange of switched traffic that contain the same accounting
rate and settlement rate (typically one~half of the accounting rate) offered to
all other U.S. carriers. The International Settlement Policy also requires U.S.
carriers to adhere to the principle of proportionate return so that competing
U.5. carriers have comparable opportunities to receive the return traffic that
reduces the marginal cost of providing international service.

If we provide public switched services over internaticnal private lines,
we would be subject to Federal Communications Commission rules governing such
activity rather than to the International Settlement Policy. These rules limit
us from providing switched services over international private lines between the
United States and certain countries and impose certain conditions on carriers
engaging in such activity.

The Federal Communications Commission continues tc refine its
international service rules to promote competition, reflect and encourage
liberalization in foreign countries, and reduce accounting rates toward cost.
Bmong other things, the Federal Communications Commission has recognized the
advent of competition in the U.K. market by designating the U.K. as a country
that offers U.S. .carriers effective competitive opportunities. The Federal
Communicaticns Commission has also amended its rules to reflect the U.S.
participation in the WTC Agreement on Basic Telecommunications Services in which
72 countries have agreed t¢ eliminate barriers to competition in their markets
for basic telecommunications services. For example, .the Faderal Cemmunications
Commission has decided to permit U.S. carriers to enter into "flexible"
termination arrangements with carriers in WTQ countries, unless such
arrangements would not promote competiticn. By taking these actions, the Federal
Communications Commission has relaxed or eliminated regulatory limitations on
many U.S. carrier services between the U.5. and the U.K. (as well as between the
U.3. and other members of the WTC). The Federal Communications Commission has
also proposed to eliminate the Internaticnal Settlements Folicy contract
requirements for agreements with certain carriers in certain foreign countries.
In addition, the Federal Communications Commission has established reduced
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"benchmark™ rates for thgaunts U.3. carriers will be allowed to pay foreign
carriers for terminating U.S.-criginated traffic. For example, effective as of
January 1, 1999, U.S. carriers may ask the Federal Communications Commission to
require that U.S. carriers pay foreign carriers in "high income"™ countries such
as the United Kingdem no more than $.15 per minute to terminate such calls.
Different rates would apply at different deadlines in different countries
depending
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on the countries' income level.

Regulation of the international telecommunications :industry is changing
rapidly. We are unable to predict how the Federal Communications Commission will
resclve the various pending internaticnal peolicy issues and the effect of such
resolutions on us.

REGULATION OF INTERNATICNAL OPERATICNS

Qur international services weuld also be subject to regulation in other
countries where we operate. Such regulation, as well as policies and regulations
on the European Union level, may impose separate licensing, service and other
conditions on our international service operations, and these requirements may
have a material adverse impact on Metromedia Fiber Network. The following
discussion is intended to provide & general cutline of certain regulations and
current regulatory posture in certain foreign jurisdictions in which we
currently operate or intend to operate, and is not intended as a comprehensive
discussion of such regulations or regulatory posture. Local laws and regulations
differ significantly among these jurisdictions, and, with:in such jurisdictions,
the interpretation and enforcement of such laws and regulatiocns can be
unpredictable.

THE EUROPEAN UNION

The European Union was established by the Treaty of Rome and subsequent
treaties. Burcpean Union member states are required to implement directives
issued by the Burcpean Commission and the European Council by passing naticnal
legislation. The European Commission and European Council have issued a number
of key directives establishing basic principles for the l:beralization of the
European Unicn telecommunications market. This basic framewcrk has been advanced
by a series of harmonization directives, which include the so-called Open
Network Prowvision directives and the Licensing Directive of April 1997 and the
Interceonnecticn Directive of June 1927, which address the procedures for
granting license authorizations and conditions applicable to such licenses and
the interconnection of networks and the interoperability of services as well as
the achievement of universal service. The Licensing Directive sets out framework
rules for the procedures assoclated with the granting of naticnal authorizations
for the provision of telecommunications services and for the establishment or
operation of any infrastructure for the provision of telecommunications
services. It distinguishes between "general authorizations,” which should
normally be easier to obtain since they do net require an explicit decision by
the naticnal regulatory authority, and "individual licenses.™ European Union
member states may impose individual license requirements for the establishment
and operation of public telecommunications networks and for the provision of
voice telephony, among other things. Consequently, ION's operations in the U.K.,
our operation with respect to the German network and European network may
require that ION or Metromedia Fiber Network, respectivelv, be subject to an
individuval licensing system rather than to a general authorization in the
majority of European Union member states. In some countries where we operate, we
may also be required to contribute to a fund for the provision of universal
service. The United Kingdom and each other European Union member state in which
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ION currently ceonducts or ! intend to conduct our business has a different
requlatory regime and such differences are expected to ccatinue, The requirement
that ION or we obtain necessary approvals varies considerably from country to
country.

UNITED KINGDOM

The U.K. Telecommunications Act of 1984 provides a licensing and
regulatory framework for telecommunications activities in the United Kingdom.
The Secretary of State for Trade and Industry at the Department of Trade and
Industry (the "Secretary of Trade"} is responsible for granting licenses under
the U.K. Telecommunicaticns Act of 1984 and for overseeing telecommunications
policy, while the Director General of
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Telecommunications (the "Director General”™) and his office (the Cffice of
Telecommunications ("OFTEL"}) are responsible, among othe: things, for enforcing
the terms of such licenses. Operators wishing to use thei: own facilities to
provide international services are currently required to obtain an internaticnal
facilities license. Bn international facilities license licenses the running of
telecommunication systems within the U.K. and permits the licensee to connect
U.K. systems to overseas systems, and to offer international services subject to
certain restrictions. ION was awarded an international facilities license on
December 9, 1%98. The U.K. Government is currently consulting on proposals to
amend licenses to create one license authorizing both international and domestic
services. The changes are expected to come into force in 19%9 and may result in
ION being licensed to provide both internaticnal and domestic services. We have
not applied for an international facilities license or anv other authorization
for the U.K. portion of our European network. OFTEL 1s consulting on which
operators will have the right and obligation to intercennect with the networks
of other operators under the regime established by the Int:erconnection
Directive. COFTEL is expected to announce its findings shortly. Currently all
cperators with international facilities licenses have the right and obligation
to interconnect, and this position is not expected tc change. Therefore ION has
the right to reguest and receive interconnection from all other operators deemed
to be entitled to such rights and obligations {as notified by the Director
General) and also the obligation to offer to enter inte an agreement to
interconnect at the request of any such operator. The U.K. Government is
currently consulting on changing the obligation to coffer to enter into an
agreement to interconnect to an obligation to negotiate w.th a view to
concluding an interconnection agreement in response to the concern raised by
operators that the current obligation exceeds the requirements of the
Interconnection Directive. The U.K. Government passed the Competition Act 1958
on November 9, 1998, which introduces concurrent powers to the industry specific
regulators and the Director General of Fair Trading for the enforcement of
prchibitions against anti-competitive behavior modeled on Articles 85 and 86 of
the Treaty of Rome. The Act introduces into U.K. legislat:on prohibitions on the
abuse of a dominant position and anti-competitive agreements, and provides for
third party rights of action, stronger investigative powers, interim measures
and effective enforcement powers. The new rules are expected to come into force
on March 1, 2000. The Act gives the Director General powe) to exercise
concurrent powers with the Director General of Fair Trading in relation to
"commercial activities connected with telecommunications”. The Act will enable
third parties to seek court orders directly against telecommunications operators
who are in breach of the prohibitions contained in the Act and seek damages
rather than have to wait for the Director General to issue an enforcement order.
Depending con how these provisions of the Act are implemented, it may give
Metromedia Fiber Network (and its competitors) greater abillity teo challenge
anti-competitive behavior in the U.K. telecommunications narket.
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GERMANY

The German Teleccommunications Act of July 25, 1996 liberalized all
telecommunications activities. Under the German Telecommunications Act, voice
telephony was liberalized as of January 1, 1998. The German Telecommunications
Act has been complemented by several Ordinances. The most significant Ordinances
concern license fees, rate regulation, interconnecticn, uaiversal service,
frequencies and customer protection.

Under the German regulatory scheme, licenses can be granted within four
license classes. A license is required for operation of transmission lines that
extend beyond the limits of a property and that are used =o provide
telecommunications services for the general public. The licenses required for
the cperation of transmission lines are divided into 3 infrastructure license
classes: mobile telecommunications (license class 1); satellite (license class
2); and telecommunications services for the general public (license class 3).
Beside the infrastructure licenses, an additional license is required for the
provision of voice telephony services on the basis of sel -cperated
teleccmmunications networks (license class 4). B class 4 license does not
include the right to operate transmission lines., According to the License Fees
Ordinance, a nationwide class 4 license costs a cnetime fee of DM 3,000,000. The
costs for a territorial class 3 license will be determined by the
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Regulierungsbehcrde fur Telekommunikation und Post, known as the "RegTP", and is
dependent on the population and the geographical area covered by the territorial
class 3 license. A nationwide territeorial class 3 license costs DM 10,600, 000.
Licensees that operate transmission lines crossing the boundary of a property
have the right tec install transmissien lines on, in and abiove public roads,
squares, bridges and public waterways without payment; however, when installing
transmission lines a planning agreement must be obtained from the relevant
authorities.

A company, which operates a public telecommunications network, has the
right to receive favorable interconnecticn rates from Deutvsche Telekom, as a
dominant carrier. If the company does not agree with the offered rates or
Deutsche Telekom refuses to interconnect for whatever reason, the company can
refer the case to the RegTP which shall decide upon the request for
interconnection within a pericd of six weeks; if the RegTl decides to extend
this deadline, it must decide within ten weeks of the request, at the latest.
Whether, and under which conditions, carrier to carrier operators will receive
favorable interconnection rates or less favorable "special network access rates"
from Deutsche Telekom depends largely on whether they operate a "public
telecommunications network." No definition of "public telecommunications
network™ has yet been provided. A public hearing on the requlatory treatment of
carrier networks-defined in the German Telecommunications Act as a
telecommunications network to which customers are not directly connected and
which interconnects access networks--and public telecommunications networks in
respect of interconnection has recently been conducted. The RegTP is expected to
publish the outcome of the hearing which shall include the RegTP's understanding
of the constituting elements of a public telecommunications network shortly. In
December 1998, the RegTP presented its preliminary views on the results of the
hearing to an audience of interested parties in Bonn. According to this
presentation, a carrier netweork constitutes a "public telecommunications
network” if it consists ¢f at least one switch and more than two connected
transmission lines and is used to provide telecommunications services to the
public, irrespective of whether or not customers are directly or (in the case of
a carrier network) indirectly connected to such network. The RegTP indicated
that it did not intend to establish a minimum number of points of
interconnecticn that are regquired for interconnections with Deutsche Telekom.
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However, the RegTP acknowged that carrier networks with few points of
interconnection may cause atypical traffic patterns on Deutsche Telekom's
network, which may create additional costs to Deutsche Telekem. The RegTP
indicated that Deutsche Telekom will be allowed to recover its additional costs
incurred due to atypical traffic patterns frem the operations responsible for
such traffic patterns if and to the extent that Deutsche Telekom can prove such
costs. It is expected that the RegTP's position will become clearer once the
RegTP has published its views in writing in the official journal.

In view of this outcome of the public hearing, Deutsche Telekom has
terminated a number of interconnection agreements in December 1598, and has
announced that it will offer new standard interconnecticn agreements. In the
last few months of 1998, and in view of the public hearing, Deutsche Telekom was
only willing to enter into interim interconnection agreements and only if the
companies requesting interconnection have direct customer access, have a minimum
of eight peints of interconnection in the startup phase or commit to establish
this number cof points of interconnection as ports for interconnection become
available and upgrade the network to 23 peints of interconnection in the initial
phase. The same number of points of interconnection were requested by Deutsche
Telekom in a special network offer for carrier networks. The rates offered by
Deutsche Telekom to carrier network operatcrs were substantially higher than
interconnection rates. In January 1999, Deutsche Telekom presented new drafts
for interconnection agreements, which significantly limit the ability of
interconnection partners of Deutsche Telekom to obtain Deutsche Telekom's
services in cennection with an interconnection at favorab.e interconnection
rates. Deutsche Telekom, for example, sets forth requirements to establish
additional pocints of interconnection if traffic at existing points of
interconnection increases beyond certain thresholds. These drafts are currently
subject to intense discussions between Deutsche Telekom, other
telecommunications cempanies and representatives of the RegTP. At the end of
February/beginning of March, two telecommunications companies whose temporary
interconnection agreements with Deutsche Telekom had expired at the end of
February and who were not willing to accept the new interconnection
agreements of Deutsche Telekem started proceedings at the RegTP seeking
orders fer continued interconnection with Deutsche Telekom at conditions
similar to the conditions which Deutsche Telekom offered until the summer of
1998. The rates
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of Deutsche Telekom's services in conjunction with interconnection and special
network access are subject to requlatory approval; such approval is typically
granted for a limited period of time. Licensed operators are under an obligation
to present their standard terms and conditions to the Reg?™P. The RegTP may,
based upon certain criteria, decide not to accept these terms and conditicns. We
may become subject to universal service financing obligations. Currently, it is
unlikely that the universal service financing system will be implemented in
Germany in the foreseeable future. We have applied for licenses of Class 3

under the German Telecommunications Act with regard to parts of the German
network,

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 1998, we employed 121 people, including 57 in
engineering and construction; 32 in sales and marketing; and 32 administrative
personnel. Our employees are not represented by any labor union. We consider our
relationship with ocur employees to be good.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal properties currently are our fiber network and its component
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assets. We own and have contractual rights to use substantially all of the
communications equipwent required for our business. OQur installed fiber optic
cable is laid under the various rights-of-way held by us. Please refer to "Item
1. Business-The Company," thereto. OQur other fixed assets are located at
varicus leased locations in the geographic areas that we serve. Qur executive
and administrative offices are located at our principal cffice at One North
Lexington Avenue, White Plains, New York (currently apprcximately 23,800 square
feet) which we lease under an agreement that expires in March 2003. We lease
additional space (currently 8,710 square feet) at 60 Hudson Street, New York,
New York, from Hudson Telegraph Associates under an agreeanent that expires in
March 2010. We have a sales office at 685 Third Avenue, Naw York, New York. We
lease this space (approximately 9,670 square feet) under an agreement that
expires in September 2003. We alsc lease 2,665 square feeb of sales space in
Malvern, Pennsylvania, and 3,438 square feet of sales space in McLean, Virginia.
We also lease additional space for our operations in New York, New Jersey,
Chicago, IL, Boston, MA, Philadelphia, PA, Baltimore, MD, Wilmington, DE, and
Washington DC.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On or about October 20, 1997, Vento & Company of New York, LLC commenced
an action against Metromedia Fiber Network, Stephen A. Garofalo, Peter
Silverman, the law firm of Silverman, Collura, Chernis & Balzano, P.C., Peter
Sahagen, Sahagen Consulting Group of Florida (collectively, the "Sahagen
Defendants") and Robert Kramer, Birdie Capital Corp., Lawrence Black, Sterling
Capital LLC, Penrush Limited, Needham Capital Group, Arthur Asch, Michael Asch
and Ronald Kuzon (the "Kramer Defendants"™) in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of New York (No. 87 CIV 7751). On or about May 29,
1998, Venteo & Company filed an amended ccmplaint. In its complaint, as amended,
Vento & Company alleges four causes cf action in connection with its sale of
500,000 shares (not adjusted for subsequent stock splits) of Class A Common
Stock to Peter Sahagen and the Kramer Defendants con January 13, 1997. The four
causes of action include: (i) viclation of Section 10(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated under such Act; (ii) fraud and
fraudulent concealment; (1ii) breach of fiduclary duty; and {iv) negligent
misrepresentation and omission. On the first and second causes of action, Vento
& Company is seeking, among other things, rescission of the Vento & Company
sale, or alternatively, damages in an amount which we cannot currently ascertain
but believe to be in excess of $36 million, together with interest. Cn the third
and fourth causes of action, Vento & Company is seeking damages in an amount
which we cannot
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currently ascertain but believe to ke in excess of $3¢ miilion,

together with interest. Vento & Company is alsc seeking punitive damages in the
amount of $50 million, reascnable legal fees and the cost of this action. All
the defendants, including Metromedia Fiber Network and Stephen A. Garofalo, have
moved to dismiss Vento & Company's amended complaint.

on or about June 12, 1998, Claudio E. Contardi commenced an action against
Peter Sahagen, Sahagen Consulting Group of Florida and Metrcmedia Fiber Network
in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (No.
98 CIV 4140). Mr. Contardi alleges a cause of action for, among other things,
breach of a finder's fee agreement entered into between Mr. Sahagen and Mr.
Contardi on or about November 14, 19%6 and breach of an implied covenant of geod
faith and fair dealing contained in the finder's fee agreement. Mr. Contardi is
seeking, amocng other things, a number of shares of Metromedia Fiber Network
which we cannot currently ascertain but believe to be approximately 225,000
shares (calculated as of the date cn which the complaint was filed} or damages
in an amount which we cannot currently ascertain but believe to be approximately
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$4.9 million (calculated a.of the date on which the complaint was filed) and

all costs and expenses incurred by him in this acticn. We have filed an answer
te the complaint and have raised affirmative defenses.

We intend to vigorcusly defend both these actions hecause we believe that
we acted appropriately in connection with the matters at issue in these two
cases. However, we cannot assure you that we will not determine that the
advantages of entering into a settlement outweigh the risk and expense of
protracted litigation or that ultimately we will be successful in defending
against these allegations. If we are unsuccessful in defending against these
allegations, an award of the magnitude being sought in ths Ventc & Company
litigation would have a material adverse effsct on our fiasancial condition or
results of operaticns.

In addition, we are subject tc various claims and proceedings in the
ordinary course of business. Based on information currently available, we
believe that none of such current claims or proceedings, individually, or in
the aggregate, including the Venteo & Company litigation and the Contardi
litigation, will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
results of operations, although we can make no assurances in this regard.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITIES HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth

fiscal guarter of the year ended December 31, 1998,
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STCCKHOLDER MATTERS

MARKET INFORMATION, Since October 28, 19%7, the Class A Common Stock has
been listed and traded on the Nasdag National Market (the "Nasdag") under the
symbol "MFNX." The following table shows the range of reported high and low
closing prices per share of Class A Common Stock for each guarter within the
Company's two most recent fiscal years:

1998 Kigh (%) Low (%)
First Quarter . . « « « « « « « + & i0 17/32 3 7/8
Second Quarter. . . . .« .+ .+ .« . . . . 21 21/32 6 1/2
Third Quarter . . . . . . « « + « « . 17 27/32 10 1/2
Fourth Quarter. . . . . . . . . . . . 4 3/4 12 1/2
1997 : High ($) Low {5)
First Quarter . . +« « « « « + « + « N/A N/&
Second Quarter. . .« .« .+« « 4 o« o« o4 o« . N/ N/A
Third Quarter . . . . . + « « + - .« . N/A N/A
Fourth Quarter. . . . . . . . . . .« . 6 3 23/32
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The above prices re ct the effect of both of our :wo-for-cne stock
splits of our Class A and Class B Common Stock in the form of 100 percent stock
dividends to all shareholders of record as of August 7, 1998 (completed August
28, 1998) and December 8, 1998 {completed December 22, 1998).

HOLDERS. As of March 11, 1999, there were approximately 134 record holders
of Class A Common Stock and three record heolders of Class B Common Stock. The
closing price for the Class A Common Stock on such date was $49 1/8 per share as
reported on the Nasdag. The Company is aware that it has a substantial number of
additional sharehclders who hold their shares through The Depository Trust
Company .

On Octcber 28, 1997, in connection with cur initial public offering, we
approved two share exchanges pursuant to which 28,259,760 shares of the old
common stock, par value $.01 per share, were exchanged for the same number of
shares of Class A Common Stock and a total of 33,613 shares of our Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share were exchanged for
17,041,944 shares of our Class B Common Stock. Immediately thereafter, two
shareholders converted an aggregate of 157,308 shares of (Class B Common Stock
into an equivalent number of shares of Class A Common Stock. These exchanges
were exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, by
virtue of Section 3({a) (9) thereof.

DIVIDENDS. We have never declared or paid any casn dividends on our Class
A Common Stock or our Class B Common Stock and do not expect to do so in the
foreseeable future. The terms of the Indenture for the 10% Senior Notes restrict
our ability to pay dividends on our shares of commeon stock. We anticipate that
all future earnings, if any, generated from operations will be retained to
finance the expansion and continued development of our business. Any future
determination with respect to the
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payment of dividends will be within the sole discretion of our board of
directors and will depend upon, among other things, our earnings, capital
requirements, the current terms of the indenture governing the Company's 10%
Senior Notes or other then-existing indebtedness, applicahle requirements of the
Delaware General Corporation Law, general economic conditions and such other
facters considered relevant by our board.

We are not currently, and do not expect to become, subject to the
registration requirements of the Investment Company Act of 1940.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

METRCMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARTIES
SELECTED CONSCOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected financial data set forth below for Metromedia Fiber Network
for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996 and as of December 31,
1998 and 1997, is derived from, and qualified by reference to, the audited
consclidated financial statements included elsewhere herein. The selected
financial data set forth below for Metromedia Fiber Netwerk for the years ended
December 31, 19985 and 1%94 and as of December 31, 1995 and 19%4 are derived from
our audited consolidated financial statements nct included elsewhere herein. The
selected financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with Item
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7. "Management's Discussio' and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations™ and Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data®™ included

elsewhere herein.

Statement of Operations Data
Revenue

Expenses:
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative

Consulting and employment incentives
Settlement agreement
Depreciation and amortization

Income (loss) from operations
Interast income (expense), net
{Loss) from joint venture
Income taxes
Net income {(loss)
Net income (loss)
stockholders per share-basic
Net income applicable to common
stockholders per share-diluted
Number of shares of common stock
assumed outstanding-basic (b)
Number of shares of common stock
assumed cutstanding-diluted {b}

Summary Balance Sheet Data

Current assets

Working capital (deficiency)

Fiber optic transmission network and
related equipment, net

Property and equipment, net

Total assets

Long-term debt

Total liabilities

Stockholders! eqguity (deficiency)

(a)

(a)

applicable to common

Fiscal Year ended December 31,

1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

{(in 000's, except per share data)
$ 36,436 $ 2,524 $ 236 $ 56 $ -
13,937 3,572 699 -- -
14,712 6,303 2,070 3,886 874
248 19,218 3,652 - -
3,400 -- - -- ——
1,532 157 613 162 --
2,607 (27,326) (6,798) (3,992) {874)
1,927 1,067 (3,561) (327) -
(146) -- -= - --
3,402 - -— -— -—
$ 986 $ (26,259) $(10,359y § (4,319 3 (874)
$ 0.01 $ {0.586) $ (0.29) s (0.17y % (0.04)
$ 0.01 N/A N/A N/A N/A
93,495 47,447 35,858 24,829 23,336
109,762 N/A N/A N/A N/R

As of December 31,

1988 1997 1996 1995 1934

(in 000's, except per share data}
$ 665,823 $ 140,557 $ 645 $ 254 $ 271
555,050 133,020 112,887) (11, 542) {1,735)
244,276 24,934 6,369 5,885 2,288
2,716 759 525 468 -=
974,417 167,378 7,977 7,077 2,952
672,675 - - - 1,968
816,903 17,838 14,835 12,413 3,974
157,514 142,540 {6,858) {5,336) (1,022}

Represents value of common stock, warrants and options issued to

consultants and officers to provide services to Metromedia Fiber Network.

(b)

retroactive effect to stock splits;

Financial Statements."
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see Note 1 to

Based upon the weighted average shares outstanding sfter giving

"Notes to Consolidated
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCTAL, CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis relates to our financial
condition and our results of operations for the three yeans ended December
31, 1%98. This information should be read in conjunction with the Item 6.
"Selected Financial Data" and our consclidated Financial Statements and
related notes thereto beginning on page F-1.

STATEMENT ON FORWARD-LCOKING INFORMATION

Certain statements in this section are "forward-lcoking statements." You
should read the information under Part I, "Special Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements”™ for more information about our presesntation of
forward-leooking information.

GENERAL

We are a facilities-based provider of technologically advanced,
high-bandwidth, fiber optic communications infrastructure to communications
carriers and corporate/government customers in the United States. We focus
our operations on domestic intracity fiber optic networks in clusters of the
15 largest cities throughout the United States based on population. We
currently operate high-bandwidth fiber optic communications networks in New
York and the greater Philadelphia area and within the next two guarters we
will begin tc operate similar networks in Washington, D.C. We have also begun
engineering and constructing networks in Chicago, San Francisco and Boston
and within the next two years, we plan to complete an expansion into five
additional markets, including Los Angeles, Seattle, Dallas, Houston and
Atlanta. We expect that our domestic intracity networks will ultimately
encompass approximately 810,000 fiber miles covering approximately 1,896
route miles.

We have also built or obtained intercity fiber optic capacity that
links certain of our intracity networks. We expect to complete construction
of the first 432 cable along ocur 250-route mile network from New York to
Washington, D.C. during the first quarter of 193%9. We have also obtained
rights for fiber optic capacity with other facilities-providers and obtained
fiber optic capacity linking certain of the metropolitan areas (New
York-Chicage, New York-Bosten, Chicago-Seattle-Portland) in which we plan to
construct intracity networks, except in Portland.

In addition, we have entered into a joint venture with a U.K.
telecommunications company to connect our New York network to London. We also
have formed a joint wventure to construct & high-bandwidth fiber optic network
connecting 13 major cities in Germany and obtain certain additional fiber
optic capacity in Western Europe.

RESULTS CF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997:

REVENUES. Revenues for 1998 were 536.4 million or 1,356% greater than revenues
of $2.5 million for 1997. The increase in revernue for 1958 wversus 1897 reflected
higher revenues associated with commencement of service tc an increased total
number of customers, as well as revenue recognized related to grants of
indefeasible rights of use to portions of our network and sales of dark fiber
classified as sales type leases.
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COST OF SALES. Cost of sales was $13.9 million in 1998, a 286% increase over
cost of sales of $3.6 million in 1897. Cost of sales increased for 1998 as
compared to 1997 due to costs associated with the commencement of service to
customers, higher fixed costs associated with the operation of our network in
service and the allocated costs of the network related to revenue recognized
for grants of indefeasible rights of use to portions of our network and sales
type leases of porticns of our dark fiber classified as capital leases. Costs
of sales, as percentages of revenue for 1998 and 1397 were 38% and 142%,
respectively, declining as a result of the significant increase in the number
of customers and revenues.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. Selling, general and
administrative expenses increased to $14.7 millicn during 1998, from 3$6.3
million during 1997, an increase of $8.4 millicon, or 133%. The increase in
selling, general and administrative expenses for 1998 as compared to 1997
resulted primarily from increased overhead to accommodate our network expansion,

CONSULTING AND EMPLOYMENT INCENTIVES EXPENSE. Consulting and employment
incentives expense for 1998 were $0.2 million compared with $1%9.2 million for
1997. Consulting and employment incentives expense incurred in 1897 reflects the
value of stock options issued to key employees, officers and directors in order
to attract or retain their services. For 19%8, the amount recorded reflects
amortization for the unvested component of options issued in 1997 to key
employees.

SETTLEMENT AGREFMENT. We recorded $3.4 million for a settiement agreement in
1998. The amount was recorded in the first guarter of 19%9¢& for the expense
associated with the issuance of stock options and payment of cash related to a
settlement agreement.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION EXPENSE. Depreciation and amortization expense was
$1.5 million during 1998, as compared to $0.8 million during 1997, an increase
of 30.7 million, or 88%. The increases in depreciation and ameortization expense
resulted from increased investment in ocur completed fiber optic network and
property and eguipment.

INTEREST INCOME (EXPENSE). Interest income was $8.8 million during 1298 as
compared to $1.8 million during 19%7, an increase of $7.0 million, or 389%.
Interest inccme during 1998 was derived from investment of our excess cash
received as proceeds from our initial public offering in October 1997 and the
additional cash received in November 1998 from the proceeds of our $650 millicn
note issuance. Interest expense increased in 1998 to $6,8¢1,000 as compared to
$741,000 for 1997, The increase in interest expense reflects interest accrued
for the senicr notes issued in November 1998.

INCOME {LOSS) FROM JQINT VENTURE. We recorded & $146,000 loss from our 50% share
of the ION joint venture's loss for 1998. The loss primarily represents startup
costs and operating activities for the joint venture.

INCOME TAXES. We recorded a provision for income taxes for 1998 in the amount of
$3.4 million. This represents an estimated effective tax rate, for federal and
state taxes, of 77.5%.

NET INCOME {1L0OSS). Net income was $1.0 million for 1998, as compared to a net
loss of $26.3 million for 19%7. For 1998, basic net income per share was $0.01
as compared to a basic net loss per share of 5.56 for 1987. On a diluted basis,
net income per share for 1998 was $0.01.

The improvements in results for 1998 were primarily attributable to the
growth of revenues and the improvements in gross margins, as noted above, as
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well as the increase in net interest income related to the inves!ment made by
Metromedia Company and the funds raised through our initial public offering
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as compared to net interest expense.
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996:

REVENUES. Revenues for 1997 were 52.5 million, a 1,150% ircrease as compared to
1396 revenues of $0.Z million. The revenue increase was generated by one-time
revenues asscciated with commencement of services to customers as well as
increased recurring lease revenues, which reflects the growth in the number of
our customers.

COST OF SALES. Cost of sales for 19%7 was $3.6 million, an increase of 414% as
compared to the $0.7 million that was recorded as cost of sales in 1996. The
increase in cost of sales was associated with the increased revenues. Cost of
sales as a percentage of revenues improved te 142% in 1997 from 296% in 199%6.
The impreovement in cost of sales as a percentage of revenues reflects the
increases in revenue outdistancing the increases in cost, as the components of
cost were mostly of a fixed nature.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. Selling, general and
administrative expenses increased to $6.32 million in 1997 from $2.1 million in
1986, a 200% increase. This increase resulted primarily from increased legal
expenses as a result of our increased business activities and the increased
staffing to accommodate our anticipated growth.

CONSULTING AND EMPLCYMENT INCENTIVES EXPENSE. Consulting and employment
incentives expense of $19.2 million was recorded in 1937 as compared to
$3.7millicn in 1996. The 1997 expense represents the value of stock options
issued to key employees, officers, directors and consultants in order to attract
or retain their services. The amount recorded in 19296 reflects the expense
associated with issuance of stock and warrants to consultents in consideration

for services rendered.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATICN EXPENSE. Depreciaticn and amortization expense was
$0.8 million in 1997 as compared to $0.6 million in 1996. The increase in
depreciation and amortization expense resulted from increzsed investment in our
fiber optic network.

INTEREST INCOME (EXPENSE). We had interest income of $1.8 millicn in 1897 as
compared to no interest income during 1996. The interest income in 1997 arose
from the investment cf our excess cash during the year. In 1936, we had nc
excess cash to invest and, accordingly, earned no interest income. Interest
expense (including financing costs) decreased in 1997 to $0.7 million from $2.6
million in 1996. The decrease in interest expense reflects the repayment cof all
of our debt during the year with the proceeds of the investment made by
Metromedia Company, &s well as lower financing costs.

NET LOSS. We recorded a net loss of $26.2 million in 19%7 as compared to a net
loss of $10.4 million in 1896. The increase in the net loss was primarily
attributable to costs associated with organizing to meet cur growth objectives.
In particular, such costs include the consulting and emplcyment incentive,
described above, to attract and retain key employees, officers and directcors, as
well as increased overhead to meet our growth objectives.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cn November 3, 1%97, our initial public offering of 36,432,000 shares of
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Class A Common Stock generated net proceeds of $133.9 million, !ter deducting
the underwriters' commission and expenses relating to such initial public
offering.
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For 1998, our operating activities generated $18.0 millicn of cash,
compared with $2.2 million during 1997. The increase in cash provided by
operations was primarily due to the increase in advance payments received from
customers as well as the improvement in net income as a result of increases in
revenues and interest income in 1998 as compared to 1997. For 199%8, we used
$218.0 million of cash for investing activities as compared to $19.7 million for
1%97. This increase was due primarily to investments in tle expansion of ocur
networks and related construction in progress as well as capital contributions
to our ION joint venture and a deposit on our German network build. For 199%8, we
received $630.4 million of net cash from financing activities, compared to
$155.9 million for 1997. The cash from financing activities in 1998 came mainly
from the issuance and sale of 10% Senior Notes in November 1998, while the 1997
amount related to the sale of securities of Metromedia Fiher Network net of the
repayment of certain of our indebtedness.

Cash used in operating activities during 1996 was $2.8 million. Cash was
utilized to support the operations through our startup phase. Cash flows used in
investing activities were $1.1 million in 1996. The investing activities cash
outflows in both years were primarily used for the building of our New York/New
Jersey network. Financing activities provided cash flows c¢f $4.3 million in 1996
with the issuance of equity and debt. The cash flows from financing activities
in 1996 were utilized to fund our cperating and investing activities.

We anticipate that we will continue to incur net operating losses as we
expand and complete our existing networks, construct additional networks and
market our services to an expanding customer base. We anticipate spending
approximately $300 million for the year ending December 31, 189%9 and
approximately $200 million for the year ending December 31, 2000 on the
build-out of our fiber optic networks in 11 of the 15 largest cities in the
United States based on population and our planned international networks. We
believe that the net proceeds from the issuance and sale ¢f $650.0 million of
10% Senior Notes in November 1998, other cash on hand, certain vendeor financing
and cash generated in 1%9% and 2000 (including advance customer payments), will
be sufficient to fund the planned build-cut of cur fiber cptic networks and our
other working capital needs through the year ended December 31, 2000. The
indenture for the notes permits us to incur additional indebtedness to finance
the construction of our networks. As a result, we may als¢ consider from time to
time private or public sales of additiocnal equity or debt securities, entering
into senior credit facilities and other financings, depending upon market
conditions, in order to finance the continued build-out of our network. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully consummate any Such
financing at all, or on acceptable terms. Accordingly, we expect to continue
experiencing net operating losses and negative cash flows for the foreseeable
future,

YEAR 2000 SYSTEM MODIFICATIONS

We are currently working to evaluate and resolve the potential impact of
the Year 2000 on our processing of date-sensitive information and network
systems. The Year 2000 problem is the result of computer programs being written
using two digits {rather than four) to define the year 2000, which could result
in miscalculations or system failures resulting from recognition of a date using
"00" as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000.

We have delegated responsibility t¢ a group of executives to ccordinate
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the identification, evaluation and implementaticn of changes to computer systems
and applications necessary to achieve cur goal of a Year 2000 date conversion
which would minimize the effect on our customers and avoid disruption to
business operations. We are also focusing on hardware and software tocls,
programming and outside forces that may affect our operat:ions, including our
vendors, banks and utility companies. Qur analysis of the Year 2000 threat is
ongoing and will be continuously updated thrcughout 1999 as necessary.
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We have completed a questionnaire and project plan to our systems and
operating persconnel to identify all business and computer applications so that
we can identify potential compliance problems. We plan to initiate
communications with our significant customers, suppliers, contractors and major
systems developers tc determine their plans to remedy any Year 2000 issues that
arise in their business with us. We plan to compile a database of information
based upon these responses, which we expect to complete during the second
quarter of 1999, To the extent problems are identified, we will implement
corrective procedures where necessary, then test the applications for Year 2000
compliance. We expect to complete this project prior to January 1, 2000.

Based on preliminary data, our estimate is that the Year 2000 effort will
have a nominal cost impact, although we can make no assurances as toc the
ultimate cost of the Year 2000 effort or the total cost of information systems.
Such costs will be expensed as incurred, except to the extent such costs are
incurred for the purchase or lease of capital equipment. UWe expect to make some
of the necessary modifications through our ongcing investment in system
upgrades. We believe that our exposure to this issue, based on our internal
systems, is somewhat limited by the fact that substantially all of our existing
systems have been purchased or replaced since 1996.

As of December 31, 19%98, we had incurred nominal consulting costs in
respect of our Year 2000 conversion effort. We have not deferred any other
information systems projects due to the Year 2000 efforts. We expect that the
source of funds for Year 2000 costs will be cash on hand. Accordingly, we are
devoting the necessary resources to resclve all significant Year 2000 issues.

If cur customers, suppliers, contractors or major systems developers are
unable to resolve Year 2000 processing issues in a timely manner, a material
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition could
result. ’

Because the risk factors referred to above could cause actual results or
outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-lcoking
statements made by us, you should not place undue reliance on any such forward-
looking statements. Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the
date on which it is made and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-
looking statement or statements to reflect events or circumstances after the
date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not
possible for us to predict which will arise. In additicn, we cannot assess the
impact of each factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or
conbination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statements.

ITEM 7a. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
In the normal course of business, the financial position <f the Company is

routinely subjected to a variety of risks. 1In addition t¢ the market risk
associated with interest movements on the Company's outstanding debt, the
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Company is subject to other types of risk such as the col.‘.ectib,i:y of its
accounts receivables. The Company's principal long term obligation is its
$650 million 10% Senior Notes. The fair value of the long-term debt at
December 31, 19598 was $650 million, A 10% decrease and a 10% increase in the
level of interest rates would result in an increase in the fair wvalue of the
Company's long term obligation by $6.5 million and a decrease in the fair
value of the Company's long term obligation by $6.5 million respectively.

The Company has also purchased a portfolic of U.S. government securities,
which mature at dates sufficient to provide for payment in full of interest
on the Company's $650 million 10% Senior Notes through May 15, 2000. The
pledged securities are stated at cost, adjusted for premium amortization and
accrued interest. The fair value of the pledged securities approximates its
carrying value.

The Company has $569 million in cash and cash equivalents at December 31,
1938, To the extent the Company's cash and cash equivalernts (3 months)
exceed its funding requirements the Company may invest its excess cash and
cash equivalents on longer term high-quality financial instruments. Such
investments when made will be subject to changes in interest rates.

ITEM 8. FINANCTAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The response to this item is incorporated by reference to pages F-1
through F-29 and $S-1 herein.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCCUNTANTS ANL FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.
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PART TIII

The information called for by this Part IIT (Ttems 10, 11, 12 and 13) is
not set forth herein because the Company intends to file with the SEC not later
than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 1%98 the
Cefinitive Proxy Statement for the 1999 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
held on May 18, 19%9. Such information to be included in the Definitive Proxy
Statement is hereby incorporated into these Items 10, 11, 12 and 13 by this

reference. '

PART IV
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPCRTS ON FCRM B-K.
a} 1. Financial Statements:
See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on Page F-1.
2. Financial Statement Schedules:
Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
All cother schedules not listed above have been omitted since they
are either not applicable or the information is contained elsewhere in the
financial statements or the notes thereto, or the amcunts are

insignificant or immaterial.

b) Current Reports on Form 8-K
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c}

On December 4, 1998, the Company filed a Current Report !‘orm 8-K
related to the Company's anncuncement of the unregistered offering for
$650,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 10% Senior Notes due 2008.
The notes were issued con November 25, 1998 at a price per note of 100%.
Further details, were disclosed in a Press Release, dated November 20,
1998, filed as an exhibit to such current report.

As of the date of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K no proxy
materials have been furnished to security holders. Copies of all proxy
materials will be sent to the Commission in compliance with its rules.

Exhibits.
EXHIBIT DESCRIPTION
NUMBER  mmmmmme—eee
3.1 Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporaticon of

Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the
Company's Registration Statement on Ferm S-1 .Registration No.
333-33653) ).

3.2 Form of Bmended and Restated Bylaws of Metromedia Fiber Network,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-33633)).

4.1 Specimen Class A Common Stock Certificate of Metromedia Fiber
Network, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company's
Registration Statement cn Form S-1
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(Registration No. 333-33653)).

4.2 Indenture, dated as of November 25, 1998, between Metromedia Fiber
Network, Inc. and IBJ Whitehall Bank & Trust Cempany (formerly IBJ
Schroder Bank & Trust Company) {incorporated by reference tc the
Company's Registration Statement on Form $-4 [Registration No.
333-71129)).

4.3 Form of 10% Series A Senior Notes due 2008 of Metromedia Fiber
Network, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S5-4 (Registration No. 333-71129))

4.4 Form of 10% Series B Senior Notes due 2008 of Metromedia Fiber
Network, Inc. {(incorporated by reference to the Company's Amendment
No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S5-4 (Registration No.
333-71129) ).

10.1 Form of Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc. 1987 Incentive Stock Plan
{incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S$-1 (Registration No. 333-33653)).

10.2 Employment Agreement by and between National Fiber Netwerk, Inc. and
Stephen A. Garofalo, dated as of February 26, 1997 (incorporated by
reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1
{Registration No, 333-33653)).

10.3 Employment Agreement by and between National Fiber Network, Inc. and
Howard M. Finkelstein, dated as of April 30, .997 (incorporated by
reference to the Company's Registration Statenent on Form S-1
{(Registration No. 333-33653)).

10.4 Agreement dated as of April 30, 19%7, as amended by a Modification
Bgreement dated as of October, 1997 by and among Metromedia Company,
Stuart Subeotnick, Arnold Wadler, Silvia Kessel., Stephen A. Garofalo
and Naticnal Fiber NWetwork, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form $-1 (Registration No.
333-33653)).

10.5 Franchise Agreement between the City of New York and National Fiber
Network, Inc., dated as of December 20, 19%3 (incerporated by
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reference to the Company's Registration Staterent cgorm S-1
{(Registration No. 333-33653)).

i0.6 Conduit Cecupancy Agreement by and between New York Telephone
Company and National Fiber Network, Inc., dated as of May 1993
{incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (Registration Neo. 333-33653)).

10.7 Consulting Agreement between National Fiber Network and Realprop
Capital Corporation, dated as of February 1, 1996 (incorpcrated by
reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-33653)).

10.8 Letter Agreement from National Fiber Network, Inc. to Peter Sahagen,
dated February 11, 1997 (incorporated by reference to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-33653)).

10.9 Office Lease by and between National Fiber Network, Inc. and 110
East 42nd Street Associates, dated as of Marchk 19, 1997
{(incorpcrated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-23653)),.

10.10 Office Lease by and between National Fiber Wetwork, Inc. and 110
East 42nd Street, dated as of June 1927 (incorporated by reference
to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-33653}).

10.11 Trademark License Agreement by and between Metromedia Company and
Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc., dated as of August 14, 1997
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement
on Form S-1 {Registration No. 333-33653)).

10.12 Fiber Optic Use Agreement between National Filber Network, Inc. and
NextLink New York, L.L.C., dated as of June 3, 19%7 (portions of
this exhibit are subject to a

.

33

request to the Securities and Exchange Commission for confidential
treatment, and omitted material has been separately filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission) (incorporated by reference to
the Company's Reglstration Statement on Form &-1 (Registration No.
333-33653)).

10.13 Amended and Restated Agreement for the Provision of a Fiber Optic
Transmission Network, dated as of the Effective Date by and between
IS ONE Communications of New York, Inc. and National Fiber Network,
Inc. (pertions of this exhibit are subject to a request to the
Securities and Exchange Commission for confidential treatment, and
omitted material has been separately filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission} (incorporated by reference tc the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S5-1 (Registration Ne. 333-33653)).

10.14 Fiber Lease and Innerduct Use Agreement by and between Metromedia
Fiber MNetwork, Inc. and NextLink Communications, Inc., dated as of
February 23, 1998 {portions of this exhibkit are subject to a request
to the Securities and Exchange Commission for confidential
treatment, and omitted material has been separately filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission) (incorporated by reference to
the Company's 19%7 Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No.000-23269)}.

10.15 Amendment No. 1 tc Fiber Lease and Innerduct Use Agreement by and
between Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc. and NextLink Communications,
Inc., made and entered into as of March 4, 1998 (pcrticns of this
exhibit are subject to a request tc the Securities and Exchange
Commission for confidential treatment, and omitted material has been
separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission)
(incorporated by reference to the Company's 1927 Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 000-23262}).

10.16 Agreement of Lease by and between Connecticut General Life Insurance
Company and Metromedia Fiber Network Services, Inc., dated as of
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March 9, 1998 |lncorp0rated by reference to the Corgy's 1597

Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 000-23264%)).

10.17 Purchase Agreement, dated November 20, 1998 anong Metromedia Fiber
Network, Inc., Salomeon Smith Barney, Inc., Chase Securities, Inc.,
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Donaldson Lufkin & Jenrette
Securities Corporation {incorporated by reference to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-71129)).

10.18 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 25, 1998 among
Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc., Salomon Smith Barney, Inc., Chase
Securities, Inc., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Donaldson Lufkin
& Jenrette Securities Corporaticn (incorporated by reference to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No.
333-711293).

10.19 Security Agreement, dated as of November 25, 19898, between
Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc. and IBRJ Whitehall Bank & Trust
Company (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form 5-4 {(Registration No. 333-7.129}).

10.20 Employment Agreement by and between Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc.
and Vincent A. Galluccio, dated as of August 31, 1998 (incorporated
by reference to the Company's Amendment No. 1 to Registration
Statement on Form S5-4 (Registration No. 333-7.129)).

10.21 Enployment Agreement by and between Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc.
and Gerard Benedetto, dated as of August 31, 1958 (incorporated by
reference to the Company's Amendment No. 1 tc Registration Statement
on Form $-4 (Registration
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No. 333-7112%}).

10.22 Employment Agreement by and between Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc.
and Nicholas M. Tanzi, dated as of August 31, 19288 (incorpeorated by
reference to the Company's Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement
on Form S-4 (Registraticn No. 333-71129)).

21.1+* List of Subsidiaries of Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc.
23.1% Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
24.1 Power of Attorney from officers and directors.

27.1* Financial Data Schedule.

* Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended,, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunteo duly authorized.

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC.

By: /s/ Stephen A. Garofalo

Stephen A. Garofalo
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Dated: March __ , 1999
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We, the undersigned cificers and directors of Metromediager Network,
Inc., hereby severally constitute Arnold L, Wadler, Howard M. Finkelstein and
Gerard Benedetteo, and each of them singly, our true and lawful attorneys with
full power to them, and each of them singly, to sign for us and in our names in
the capacities indicated below, any and all reports (including any amendments
thereto), with all exhibits thereto and any and all documents in connection
therewith, and generally do all such things in cur name and on our behalf in
such capacities to enable Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc. to comply with the
applicable provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
all requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and we hereby ratify
and confirm our signatures as they may be signed by our said attorneys, or
either of them, to any and all such reports (including any amendments thereto)
and other documents in connection therewith.

of the Securities
this report has been signed below by the following

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15{(d)
Exchange of 1934, as amended,

persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates

indicated.
SIGNATURES TITLE OR CAPACITIES DATE
/s/ Stephen A. Garcfaloe Chairman of the Beoard ard March _ , 1999
———————————————————————————— Chief Executive Cfficer
Stephen A. Garofalc
/s/ Howard M. Finkelstein President, Chief Operating March _ , 1999%
———————————————————————————— Officer and Director
Howard M. Finkelstein
/s/ Gerard Benedetto Vice President, March , 1999
———————————————————————————— Chief Financial Officer and
Gerard Benedetto Chief Accounting Cfficer
/s/ Silvia Kessel Executive Vice President and March __ , 1939
———————————————————————————— Director
Silvia Kessel
/s/ Arneld L. Wadler Executive Vice President, March-_, 1989
———————————————————————————— Secretary and Director
Arnold L. Wadler
36
/s/ Vincent A. Galluccio Senior Vice President and March _ , 1999
———————————————————————————— Director
Vincent A. Galluccio
/s/ John W. Kluge Director March _ , 1999
John W. Kluge
/s/ Stuart Subotnick Director March _ , 1599
Stuart Subeotnick
/s/ David Rockefeller Director March , 1999
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David Rockefeller

/s/ Lecnard White Director March _ , 1999

Leonard White
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Metromedia
Fiber Network, Inc. and Subsidiaries {(the "Company") as of December 31, 1998 and
1997, and the related consclidated statements of operations, stockhcolders'
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 1998. Our audits alsc included the financial statement schedule listed in
the index at Item 1l4(a). These ccnsolidated financial statements and schedule
are the responsikility of the Company's management, Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and schedule based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasconable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amcunts and disclosures in the financial statements. 2n audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our cpinion.

In cur opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidatec financial position of
Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998 and
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1997, and the consolidatec!sults of their operations and thei.cash flows for
each of the three years in the pericd ended December 31, 1998 in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation t¢ the basic financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairiy in all material respects the
information set forth therein.

/s/ Ernst & foung LLP

New York, New York
March 4, 19889
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METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARTES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN 000'S, EXCEPT SHARE AMOUNTS)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .
Pledged securities, current portlon .
Accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets.

Fiber optic transmission network and related equlpment, net .

Property and egquipment, net

Pledged securities. .

Investment in/advance to jornt venture
Cther assets.

Total assets.

LIABILITIES AND STCCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable.
Accrued liabilities . .
Deferred revenue, current portlon . e e e e e
Capital lease obligations, current portlon e e e e e

Total current liabilities
Senior notes payable.
Capital lease obligations
Deferred revenue. . e e e e .
Commitments and contlngenc1es (see notes)
Stockholders' equity:

Class A common stock, $.01 par value; 180,000,000
shares authorized; 77,605,110 and 74,896,568 shares
issued and ocutstanding, respectively. ..

Class B common stock, §.01 par value; 20, 000 000
shares authorized; 16,884,636 shares issued and
outstanding . .

Additional paid-in capltal

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders' egquity.

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity.

See accompanying notes

DECEMBER 31,

1948 1997
569,319 $138,846
61,384 -

30,910 837

4,210 874
665,823 140,557
244,276 24,934
2,716 759
30,512 -
4,156 56
26,934 1,072
$974,417 $167,378
$ 6,106 $ 3,072
96,512 3,271
8,100 1,184
55 -
110,773 7,527
650, 000 -
22,675 -
33,455 10,311
776 749
169 168
158,806 151,845
(42,237) (43,223)
157,514 149,540
$167,378

$974,417
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METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS QOF OPERATIONS
(IN 000'S, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMQUNTS)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

1948 1997 1596

Revenue . . . . . . . . . L o h s e e e e e e w e e e e e e e e .. 5 35,436 $ 2,324 5 236
Expenses:

Cost of sales . . . e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 13,937 3,572 6935

Selling, general and admlnlstratlve e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 14,712 6,303 2,070

Consulting and employment iNCEOTIVES. . . . . .« . & v o 4 e e e e e 248 19,218 3,652

Settlement agreement. . . . e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 3,400 - -

Depreciaticn and amortlzatlon e e e e e h e e e e e e e e e e e e e 1,532 757 613
Income (loss) from operations . . . . . . . . . . 0 0 e a0 e e e e e e e 2,607 (27,3286) {6,788)

Interest income . . . e e e e e e e e e e e e e 8,788 1,808 -

Interest expense (1nclud1nq flnanc1ng costs) e e e e e e e e e e e (6,861) (741) (3,561)

Loss Ffrom Joint wenture . . . . &« . - L . . ot e h e e e e e e e e e e e {1486) - -
Income (1loss) hefore income taxeS . « .« v« o v 4 4 v e e e e e e e e e e 4,388 126,259) (10,359)

Income LAXES. . , v v 4 0 e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 3,402 - -
Net income (lOSS) . « « & v v ¢ v v 4 e a e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e B 986 5(26,259; $(10,359)
Net income (leoss) per share, basic. . . . . . « « v v v v v v v v v e e e e e . 8 0.01 5 (0.386) 5 (0.29)
Net income per share, diluted . . . . . . . . . . . .+ . 0 o .o L 00 .. 8 0.01 N/A N/A
Weighted average number of shares

outstanding, basic. . . . L L 0 0 0 0 0 b e s e e e e e e e e e e e 23,495 47,447 35,859
Weighted average number of shares

cutstanding, diluted. . . . . .+ . 0 4 0w e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 169,762 N/A NfA

See accompanying notes.

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
{IN 000'S}

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income {(loss) . . . e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e K
Adjustments to recon91le net lncome (loss) to net cash

provided by (used in) operating activities:

986 $(26,259) ${10,35%)

Depreciation and amortization . . . C e e e e e e e e e e 1,532 157 613
Stock cptions and warrants issued for services, . . . . . . . . . . .. . 248 19,439 5,395
Warrants issued for settlement agreement. . . . . . . + + « 4 o4 4 w4 w 3,0G0 -
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...........2,707

Deferred Laxes., . .« . + v v 4 & 4 v 4 v 4w 4w ..
Reserve for note receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 e e e - 338 -
Loss from joint venture . . - e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 146 - -
CHANGE IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIAEILITIES
Accounts receivable . . . . . . . e . (30,073} (656} 2
Accounts payable and accrued expenses C e e e e . 13,448 {12) 758
Deferred revenue. . . . .+ + « v v o 0 W e e e e e e e e e e e e e 30,060 10,387 833
Other . . . . .+ - o e o e e e e e e e e T {4,070) {1,8086) 12
Net cash provided by {used in) operating activities .. - - .. 17,985 2,188 {2,746)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital expenditures cn fiber optic transmission
network and related equipment. . . . . . oo L, L L . . . . e e e e e e e . {118,549 119,208 {9743
Deposit payments . . . . . . . . . s e e e e e e e e e e e e e (4,675) (87) -
Investment in / advance to jeoint venture e e e e e e e e e e e e e (4,246} (56) -
Purchase of pledged securities. . . . . . . . . . . ., ., e e e e e (91,8986} - -
Capital expenditures on property and equipment, , . . . . e e e e e {2,305} {318) {85}
Net cash used in investing activities. . . . . . . . . . e . . (217,871} (19,667} (1,069)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock. . . . . c e e s . - 1,038 133,975 123
Proceeds from lssuance of preferred steock and warrants . e e . . . - 32,500 2,025
Dividends paid on preferred stock . . . . . . . . . . . . P . - (77) -
Repayments of notes payable- private placement. . . . . . . . .. . - {1,408) 25
Repayments of notes pavable . . . . . . . . . . . .. - . (5,950} {3,350)
Proceeds from notes payables, net . . . . . . . . . . . e e e e e e e e 630,000 - 5,450
Payments of capital lease obligations . . . . . . . . . e e e e e {579) - -
Purchase of common stock. . . . .« . . . o . . L 0L L. PN . . - (1,140) -
Purchase of preferred stock . . . . . ., . « . . . « « + . - .. .. . - (2,039 -
Net cash provided by financing activities. . . . . , ., . .. - . . 630,459 155,861 4,273
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS . . . + + v & 4 =« « o« o o v v 0 0 W 430,473 138,382 458
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS-BEGINNING OF PERIOD . . « 4 & + + ¢ = « « v v & + + » 138,846 464 6
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS-END QF PERICD . . . . . . . . e e e e e $ 569,319 $138, 846 $ 464
Supplemental information:
Interest paid . . v v v w0 v v e v e e e e e e e s e e e e e e e s 219 $ 1,145 5 396
Income taxes PAid + + v v e v v 0 e e e e e e e e e e b e e e e e $ 3,760 E - $ -
Supplemental disclosure of significant non-cash investing activities:
Capital lease obligalfions . . + . + + + &« & 4 v v 4 s et e e e e § 23,309 $ - $ -
Accrued capital expenditures. . . . . . . . . . . fa e e e $ 82,916 ) - S -
See accompanying notes
F-5
METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSINIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STCOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
(500078}
SERIES A & B CLASS A CLASS B ADDITIONAL
PREFERRED STOCK COMMON STOCK COMMON STOCK COMMON STOCK PAID-IN ACCUMULATED
SHARES  AMOUNT SHARES AMOUNT SHARES AMOUNT SHARES AMOUNT  CAPITAL DEFICIT TOTAL
Balance at December 31, 1995 . . . - - 24,960 § 249 - s - - 5 - 5 (205) 3 (5,381) (5,336)
Issuance of common stock and _
warrants for services rendered. - - 10,652 108 - - - - 4,810 - 4,316
Issuance of commeon stock and
warrants relared to debt
financing activities. . . . . . - - 3,435 34 - - - - 1,738 - 1,772
Issuance of commen stock in
connection with the exercise
of warrants ., . P - - 762 3 - - - - {(8) - -
Sale of commen stock and
warrants. . . . .. - - 196 3 - - - - 121 - 124
Sale of preferred stock w;t‘n
WArrants. . . . . . . 4 o+ o+ o+ o 150 15 - - - - - - 2,010 - 2,025
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Net loss for the year. . ., . . . = - - - - - {10,359) {10, 359)
Balance at December 31, 1996 . . 1590 15 40,008 490 - - - 8,467 (15,739) (6,857}
Issuance of common stock and
connection with the exercise
of warrants . . . . . . . . . . - - 408 6 - - - q _ 10
Issuance of options to employees - e - - - - - 19,218 - 15,218
Issuance of warrants in
connection with debt extension. - - - - - - - 220 - 220
Dividends on preferred stock . . - - - - - - - - (17 (773
Repurchase and retirement of
Series A preferred stock and
warrants. . . . . . . 4 . . {150} {15} - - - - - - {2,011) {13) (2,03%)
Repurchase and retirement of
commons stock and warrants. . . - - {2,354) {23) - ~ - - 18 {1,134} (1,138
Sale of Series B preferred stock B - - - - - - - 32,500 - 32,500
-6
METROMEDIA FIBER NETHORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHCOLDERS' EQUITY {DEFICIENCY) {CONTINUED)
{5000's)
SERIES A ¢ B CLASS A CLASS B ADDITIONAL
PREFERRED STOCK COMMON STOCK COMMON STOCK COMMON STOCK PAID-IN ACCUMULATED
SHARES AMOUNT SHARES AMOUNT SHARES AMOLNT SHARES AMOUNT CAPITAL DEFICIT TOTAL
Net proceeds from initial Public
offering. . . . . . . . . . . . - - - - 38,432 264 - - 133,514 - 133,879
Conversion of Common
Stock to Series A Common
Stock . . . L L. . ..o .o - - (38,261} {383} 38,260 83 - - - - -
Conversion of Series B Preferred
Stock to Series A & B Common
Stock . o . 0 0w 0w e (8) - - - 157 2 16,885 163 {171) - -
Sale of Series A Common Stock
for warrant . ., . . . . . . . . - - - - 48 - - - 86 - 86
Net loss for the year. . . . . . - - - - - - - - - (26,259 (26,259
Balance at December 31, 1997 . . . - - - - 74,897 Y48 16,885 168 191,845 (43,223) 149,540
Issuance of options to employees - - - - - - - - 248 - 248
Issuance of warrants in
connection with settlement
agreement . . . . . . . . . . . - - - - - - - - 3,000 - 3,000
Issuance of common stock in
connection with the exercise of
WALFants. . .+ « & + o+ 4 = & o s - - - - 2,138 22 - - 139 - 161
Issuance of common stock in
connection with the exercise of
stock options . . . . . . . . . - - - - 550 6 - - 867 - 873
Net income for the vear. . . . . - - - - - - - - - 986 486
Income tax benefit from exercises
of employee stock options . . . - - - - - - - 2,707 - 2,707
Balance at December 31, 19%8 . . . - - - s - 77,606 16,885 $ 169 § 198,806 S (42,237) 5157,514
F-7
METROMEDIA FIBER NETWCREK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TOQ CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: BUSINESS OPERATIONS AND LINE

OF BUSINESS

The Company is a facilities-based provider of a technologically
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advanced, high~bandwidth, fiber optic¢ communications infrastﬁe to
communications carriers and corporate/government customers in the United
States. The Company focuses its operations on domestic intracity fiber optic
networks in clusters of the 15 largest cities, based on population, throughout
the United States.

The Company operates high-bandwidth fiber optic comeunications networks in
New York and Philadelphia. The Company also is engineering and constructing
networks in Washington, D.C., Chicago, San Francisco and i3oston. The Company is
designing networks in Atlanta, Dallas, Houston, Seattle and Los Angeles.

The Company has also built or cobtained intercity fiber optic capacity that
links certain of its intracity networks. . The Cecmpany has under constructicn a
250-route mile network from New York to Washington, D.C. The Company has also
obtained rights for fiber optic capacity with other facilities-providers and
obtained fiber optic capacity linking certain of the metropolitan areas (New
York-Chicago, New York—-Boston, Chicago-Seattle-Fortland) in which it plans to
construct intracity networks, except in Portland. '

In addition, the Company has entered into a Jjoint venture with a United
Kingdom telecommunications company to connect its New York network to London.
The Ccmpany has formed a joint wenture to censtruct a high-bandwidth fiber optic
network connecting 13 major cities in Germany and obtain certain additional
fiber optic capacity in Western Europe.

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PCLICIES
BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its subsidiaries. 2l1 significant inter-compary balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consclidation. The investment in a 50%
owned joint venture with a United Kingdom telecommunicaticns company is
accounted for by the equity method. Certain balances in the consolidated
financial statements have besen restated to conform te the current period
presentation.

MANAGEMENT ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles, requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and lizbilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts for cash, accounts receivable, accounts payazble and
accrued liabilities approximate their fair wvalue. The fair value of long-term
debt is determined based on quoted market rates cr the cash flows from such
financial instruments discounted at the Company's estimated current interest
rate to enter similar financial instruments. At December 31, 1998, the fair
value of the Company's fixed rate long-term debt for the 10% Senior Notes due in
2008, was $650 million. The recorded amcounts for all other long-term debt of the
Company approximates fair wvalues.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
For purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the Company

considers all highly ligquid investments with an original miturity of three
months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.
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METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FLEDGED SECURITIES

In connection with the sale of 10% Senior Notes (see Note 9), a portion of
the net proceeds was utilized to purchase a portfolio consisting of U.S.
government securities, which mature at dates sufficient to provide for payment
in full of interest on the 10% Senior Notes through May 15, 2000. The pledged
securities are stated at cost, adjusted for premium amortization and accrued
interest. The fair value of the pledged securities approximates the carrying
value.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable includes trade receivables and costs and estimated
earnings in excess of billings for those contracts where the Company utilizes
the percentage of completion method for recognizing revenue.

FIBER CPTIC TRANSMISSION NETWORK AND RELATED EQUIPMENT

The fiber optic transmission network and related equipment are stated at
cost. Costs in connection with the installation and expansion of the network are
capitalized. Depreciaticn is computed using the straight-iine method through the
life of either the franchise agreement or right of way for the related network.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives ¢f the assets.

OTHER ASSETS

Other assets include debt issuance costs, franchise agreements and
deposits. Those costs, which are amortizable, are amertized on a
straight-line basis over a period ranging freom ten to f£ifteen years.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The Company reviews for the impairment of long-lived assets and certain
identifiable intangibles whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not ke recoverable. The Company has
identified nc such impairment indicators.

INCOME TAXES

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS")
Ne. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes, ™ the Company reccegnizes deferred
income taxes for the tax consequences in future years of differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their finanecizl reporting amocunts
at each year end, based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates
applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect
taxable income. Valuation allcwances are established when necessary to reduce
deferred tax assets to the amcunt that is "more likely than not" to be
realized. The provision for income taxes is the tax pavable for the pericd
and the change, during the period, in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

RECAPITALIZATIONS

In April 1997, the Company increased its authorized common stock of $.01
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par value toc 60,000,000 shares; in addition, authorized prefer,stock with a
par value of $.01 was increased to 2,000,000 shares. On Aoril 29, 1997, the
Company effected a 3-for-cne stock split of its outstanding shares of common
stock.

In September 1857, the Company effected a .507-for-one reverse stock split
of its common stock.

On Octcber 28, 1987, the total authorized number of shares of common stock of
the Company was increased to 200 million shares, par valus $0.01 per share, of
which 180 million shares were designated Class A common stiock and 20 million
shares were designated Class B common stock. .

On August 28, 1998, the Company completed a two-for-one stock split of the
Company's Class A and Class B Common Stock in the form of a 100 percent stock
dividend to all shareholders of record as ¢f the close of business on August 7,
19898. In addition, on December 22, 1998, the Company completed another
two-for-one stock split of the Company's Class A and Class B Common Stock in the
form of a 100 percent stock dividend to all shareholders of record as of the
close of business on Decemker 8, 1998.

The accompanying financial statements give retroactive effect to the above
recapitalizations.

RECOGNITION CF REVENUE

The Company recognizes revenue on telecommunications services ratably over
the term of the applicable lease agreements with customers. Amounts billed in
advance of the service provided are recorded as deferred revenue. The Company
also provides installaticn services for its customers, and as these services
typically are completed within a year, the Company records the revenues and
related costs for these services under the completed contract method. In
addition, the Company occasiconally grants Indefeasible Rights of Use {("IRU's"™)
to portions of i1ts network. For those grants cccurring prior to completion of
the portion of the network granted, the Company recognizes revenue on these
telecommunication services using the percentage of completion method. Under the
percentage of completion method, progress is generally measured on performance
milestcnes relating to the contract where such milestones fairly reflect the
progress toward contract completion. Network construction costs include all
direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs related to contract
performance. General and administrative costs are charged to expense as
incurred. If necessary, the estimated loss on an uncompleted contract is
expensed in the period in which it is identified. Contract costs are estimated
using allocations of the total cost ¢f constructing the specific phase of the
network. Revisions to estimated profits on contracts are recognized in the
period that they become known.

STCCK COPTICNS

The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisicns of SFAS No. 123,
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” The Company aprlies APBE Opinion No.
25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," and related interpretations in
accounting for its stock options.

CONSULTING AND EMPLOYMENT INCENTIVES
The amcunts represent the value of common stock, warrants and options

issued to consultants, officers, employees and directors of the Company as
incentive to provide services to the Company. The 1597 amounts represent the
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value of options te purchase 12,381,300 shares of the Company‘!mmon stock
issued in 1997 to officers, employvees and directors of thas Company. The options
have been valued in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25 at the difference between
the exercise price of the options and the fair market wvalue of the Company's
commen stock at the date of grant.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

In accordance with the Financial Accounting $tandards Board's ("FASB")
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS"} No. 128, "Earnings Per
Share," basic earnings per share is computed based upon the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the periods. Diluted earnings per
share is computed based upon the weighted average numbexr of common shares
outstanding plus the assumed issuance of common stock equivalents computed in
accordance with the treasury stock method.

F-10

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSCOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue represents prepayments received from customers for
future use of the Company's fiker optic network as well as prepayment for
installation services, which have not yet been provided. lLease payments are
structured as either prepayments or monthly recurring charges. Prepayments
are accounted for as deferred revenues and recognized over the term of the
respective customer lease agreement. At December 31, 1998, the Company had
received prepaid lease payments in excess of revenue recognized totaling
$41.6 million.

IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Tn June 1997, the FASB released SFAS No. 130 "Reporting Comprehensive
Income, " governing the reporting and display of comprehensive income and its
compenents. This statement is effective for financial statements issued for
pericds beginning after December 15, 19%7. The Company adcpted this standard as
required in fiscal 1998 in its Statement of Changes in Stcckholders' Eguity
(Deficiency) .

In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 131, "Discleosures About Segments
of an Fnterprise and Related Informaticn." SFAS No. 131 redefines how
operating segments are determined and requires discleosure of certain
financial and descriptive information about a2 company's oparating segments.
In 1998 the Company adopted SFAS No. 131. The Company currantly operates in
one business segment.

In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivatives
and Hedging Activities,” which establishes accounting and reporting standards
for derivative instruments and hedging activities. This standard is effective
for all fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after Juae 15, 19%9%. The
Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 133 to have an impact on its
results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

NOTE 3: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consists of the following (in 000's):
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DECEMBER 31,

1998 1997
Trade accounts receivable. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 560 s 837
Costs and earnings in excess of billings . . . . . . . . 30,134 -
Other. . . . . o . o L 0 e e s s e e e e e e e e e 216 -

At December 31, 1998, three customers accounted for 43%, 40% and 14%,
respectively, of the Company's combined accounts receivable.

NOTE 4: FIBER QPTIC TRANSMISSION NETWORK AND RELATED EQUIPMENT

Fiber optic transmission network and related equipment consists of the
following {(in 000's):

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDXARIES
NOTES TO CONSQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31,

1998 1987
Material-fiber optic cable. . . . . . . . « . .« . . . & 23,436 5 1,133
Engineering and layout costs. . . . . . . . . 0 .. 7,101 3,322
Fiber optic cable installation costs . . . . . . . . 16,639 1,86%
OtheT . v v v v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 4,242 2,013
Constructicon in progress. . . . « - « « « « « 4« o« s 195,256 17,835

246,674 26,178
Less: accumulated depreciation. . . . . . . . .« .« . . (2,398) (1,244)

$244,276 5 24,934

Construction in progress includes amounts incurred in the Company’'s
expansion of its network. These amounts include fiker opti: cable and other
materials, engineering and other layout costs, fiber optic cable installation
costs and other network assets held under capital leases. Construction in
progress also includes payments for rights of way for the underlying sectiong of
the network build.

NOTE 5: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists o¢f the following:
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DECEMBER 21,

1998 1997 USEFUL LIFE
Leasehold improvements. . . . . . . . . e e e $ 614 & 538 174 months
Furniture, equipment and software . . . . . . . . . . . 2,581 352 5 years
3,185 890
Less: accumulated depreciation and amertization . . . . (479) {131)

NQTE 6: INVESTMENT IN/ADVANCES TQ JOINT VENTURE

The Company has a joint venture agreement with Racal Telecommunications,
Inc. ("Racal"), that provides broad-based transatlantic communication services
between New York and London. As of December 31, 1997, neither party had made a
capital contribution. The balance of the investment at December 31, 1597
represents advances made to the joint venture by the Company. During 1998, each
party made capital contributions of $4.3 million. The Company and Racal may each
be required to contribute additional capital as needed for their respective 50%
interests. The Company accounts for its investment using the equity methcd. For
1998, the Company recorded a $146,000 loss from the joint wventure based on its
50% interest in the joint venture. Included within the Company's accounts
receivable is $70,000 for administrative services provided to the joint venture
which were not reimbursed as of December 31, 1998.

NCTE 7: GERMAN NETWORK BUILD

Tn February, 1999, the Company entered into a joint venture with Viatel,
Inc. and Carrier 1 Holdings, Ltd. to jeointly build a naticnal fiber optic
telecommunications network in Germany. Upon completion of construction, the
joint venture will be dissolved and the Company will own its own separate
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German broadband network. In connection with the terms of this agreement, the
Company made a deposit payment of $4.7 million, during the third gquarter of
1998. Upon signing a definitive agreement, the Company provided an
irrevocable standby letter of credit in the amcunt of $64 million as security
for the construction costs of the network, which, in addition to the deposit
payment made, covers the Company's portion of the estimated ceonstruction
costs.

NOTE 8: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company is a party To a management agreement undzr which the
Company's contrclling shareholder, Metromedia Company, provides consultation
and advisory services relating to legal matters, insurance, perscnnel and
other corporate policies, cash management, internal audit and finance, taxes,
benefit plans and other services as are reasonably requestad. The management
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agreement terminates on December 31, of each year, and is autor’cally
renewed for successive one-year terms unless either party terminates upon 60
days prior written notice. The 1998 management fee under the agreement was
$500,000 per year, payable quarterly at a rate of 3125,000. The Company is
also obligated to reimburse Metromedia Company for all its out-of-pocket
costs and expenses incurred and advances paid by Metromedia Company in
connecticn with the management agresment. Tn 1%97, Metromedia Company
received no money for its out-of-pocket costs and expenses or for interest on
advances extended by it to the Company under the management agreement.

In March and June 15%7, the Company entered into two one-year leases for
office space with an affiliate. Subsequent to June 1997, the affiliate sold this
property. For the year ended December 31, 1997, office rent expenses for these
leases amounted to approximately $110,000.

NOTE 9: SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS

In February 1996, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with
a former officer regarding the termination ¢f his employment. This agreement
provided for the Company to make payments to the officer totaling $1,003, 000,
including interest. The former officer's services effectively terminated
prior tc December 31, 1995. Accordingly, as of December 3., 1895, the Company
recorded $876,146 as a liability in accordance with the terms of the
settlement agreement. The settlement agreement alsc reaffirmed an option
previously issued to this former cfficer on May 1, 1985, which entitles the
holder to purchase 207,883 shares of the Company's common stock at $0.006 per
share through February 1, 1999. In 1997 the Company repurchased and retired
the warrants held by this former ocfficer. On November 14, 1996, the Company
amended the above referenced settlement agreement with the former officer,
whereby a consultant to the Company agreed to purchase ccnmon stock of the
company from the former cfficer and certain of his affiliates in exchange fer
$640,000 and the complete satisfaction of the aforementiored liability.

On February 11, 1937, the Company entered into an agreement with a
consultant/director. Pursuant tc the agreement the Company agreed to pay the
consultant/director a fee of $250,000 in full and complete payment for all
services provided to the Company by the censultant/directcr and for any fees or
compensaticn due to the consultant/director resulting frorm any prior agreements
with the Company, and the consultant/directer agreed to release the Company from
any claims against the Company.

In March 1998, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with Howard
Katz, Realprep Capital Corporation and Evelyn Katz, among others, which settled
and resulted in the dismissal of litigation for which the Company was a
defendant in KATZ, ET BL. V. NATIONAL FIBER NETWORK, INC., ET AL., Nc. 97 Civ.
2764 (JGK) (the "Katz Litigation").

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 10: NOTES PAYABLE

On November 25, 1998, the Company issued and sold $650.0 million of 10%
Senior Notes due November 15, 2008. The net proceeds of ths 10% Senior Notes
were approximately $630.0 million, after deducting offeriny cests, which are
included in other long-term assets. Interest on the 10% Senior Netes is payable
semi-agnnually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, commencing May
15, 1999. Approximately $91.5 million of the net proceeds was utilized to
purchase certain pledged securities, the proceeds of which, together with
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interest earned on such securities, will be used to satisfy th’mpany's
semi-annual interest cbligaticns through May 15, 2000. The 10% Senior Notes
are subject to redemption at the option of the Company, in whole or in part,
at any time on or after November 15, 2003, at specified redemption prices. In
addition, prior to November 15, 2001, the Company may use the net cash
proceeds from certain specified equity transactions to redeem up to 35% of
the 10% Senicr Notes at specified redempticon prices.

The indentures pursuant to which the 10% Senior Notess are issued
contain certain covenants that, among other matters, limit the ability of the
Company and its subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedaess, issue stock in
subsidiaries, pay dividends or make other distributions, repurchase equity
interests or subordinated indebtedness, engage in sale and leaseback
transactions, create certain liens, enter into certain transactions with
affiliates, sell assets, and enter into certain mergers and consclidations.

In the event ¢f a change in control of the Company as defined in the
indentures, holders of the 10% Senior Notes will have the right to require the
Company to purchase their Notes, in whole or in part, at a price equal to 101%
of the stated principal amount therecf, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if
any, thereon to the date of purchase. The 10% Senior Notes are senior unsecured
ohligations of the Company, and are subordinated to all current and future
indebtedness of the Company's subsidiaries, including trade payables.

NOTE 11: EQUITY TRANSACTIONS
COMMON 3STOCK

On November 3, 1937, the Company completed the initial public offering
("the "IPC") of 36,432,000 shares of its Class A common stock, at an offering
price of $4 per share. The net proceeds to the Company from the TPO, after
deducting expenses of the IPO, were appreximately $133.9 million.

In additieon, on October 28, 1997, a total of 38,259,760 shares of the
common stock of the Company owned by stockholders prior to the IPC were
exchanged for an equal number of shares of Class A common stock. The Company
also reserved for issuance 17,041,944 shares of Class A commorn stock for
conversion of the Class B common stock.

On October 28, 19%6, a sharéholder granted toc the Company's Chairman of
the Board an option to purchase 1;59%,556 shares of commorn steck of the company
for an aggregate exercise price of $500,000. By letter dated December 3, 1996,
the option was amended to reduce the number of option shares to 1,295,356
shares. The Chairman thereafter assigned the option to the Company. On February
11, 1997, the Company exercised the option by payment of $500,000.

On April 1%, 19%6, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement
with Vento & Company of New York, LLC ("VCNY"). Pursuant to this agreement, the
Company issued 6,084,000 shares of common stock to VCNY as consideration for
services provided by VCNY. The Company estimated the value of the stock issued
approximated $2,760,000.

Concurrent with the execution of the aforementioned stock purchase
agreement, the parties entered into a consulting agreement. The term oI the
agreement was from April 15, 1996 to April 15, 2001. Under the terms cf the
agreement, VCNY was to provide guidance and advice with respect to the
management of the dav-to-day operations of the Company's fiber optic
transmission network. In consideration for such services, the Company reimbursed
VCNY for all reasonable personnel and travel costs incurred by VCNY
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with respect tc the performance of these services. On October 9, 19296, the
Company entered into a settlement agreement with the Company's former chief
executive officer and VCNY regarding the termination of such officer's
employment and services provided by VCNY. The agreement provided for VCNY to
deliver a total of 6,084,000 shares of common stock in exchange for payments
made by the Company. The payments were not made and the sale of the shares and
the Company's obligation to buy the shares was deemed null and void.

In September 1996, the Company sold 43,736 shares of common stock to three
individuals for total proceeds of $23,500.

In August 1996, the Company issued 730,030 shares of common stock for
consulting services. The Company recorded a non-cash charge of $334,800 for such
issuance.

In July 1996, the Company issued 48,672 shares of common stock as
consideration for consulting services. The Company recorded a non-cash charge of
$21,200 for such issuance. In addition, the Company issued 602,316 shares to
three employees for services rendered. The transaction was later rescinded and
the shares were returned to the Company.

In June 19%6, the Company sold a total of 152,100 shares of common stock
to two individuals for total proceeds of $100,000. Concurrent with the issuance
of these shares, the Company issued warrants to these shareholders entitling the
holders to purchase a total of 152,100 shares at $0.66 pel share for a
three-year period.

on January 12, 1996, the Company entered intc an agreement with its legal
counsel to issue common stock as additional consideration for legal services
provided. Pursuant to this agreement, as amended, the Company issued a total of
1,964,420 shares of its common stock. Management has estimated the value of the
1,964,420 shares issued to be $907,301 and has reccrded a non-cash charge in
connection with such issuance.

PREFERRED STOCK

On BApril 30, 1997, the Company scld an aggregate of 33,613,300 shares of
Series B convertible preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share (the "Series B
preferred stock"), to Metromedia Company and affiliates ("Metromedia"} for an
aggregate purchase price of $32.5 million (the "Metromedias Investment"). Bach
share of the Series B preferred stock was convertible inte 507 shares of the
Company's common stock. On October 28, 1997, the Series B convertible preferred
shares were converted inteo 17,041,944 shares of Class B cocmmon stock. Further,
on Qctober 28,1997, a total of 157,308 shares of Class B common stock
outstanding were converted into an equivalent number of shares of Class A common
stock.

A portion of the proceeds from the Metromedia Investment was used to repay
the Metromedia Loan, discussed below, and accrued interest thereon ($4,058,127),
repay other short-term indebtedness {$3,485,000), and redeem (for $2,115,000)
all of the outstanding shares of the Company's preferred stock {the “Series A
preferred stock") and related warrants.

Through April 30, 1997, Metromedia loaned the Company an aggregate of
$4,000,000 (the "Metromedia Loan"). A porticn of the proceseds from the
Metromedia Loan was used to purchase 2,353,880 shares of the Company’'s Cormon
stock and warrants to purchase 831,532 shares cof its common stock.

No shares of the Company's Series A preferred stock or Series B preferred
stock remained outstanding at December 31, 1%97. Both the Series A and Series B
preferred stock of the Company have been eliminated pursuant toe acticons by the
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STOCK WARRANTS

A, In 1996, the Company entered into an agreement with a Customer for
exclusive usage rights for fibers on portions of its network. In connection
with this agreement, the Company borrowed $4.9% million from the customer. On
April 30, 1997, the Company amended this agreement to satisfy the obligations
of the above-referenced ncte by providing (i) additional leased fiber miles,
{ii} a cash paymént of $1,370,000 and (iii) a warrant to purchase common
stock of the Company. In July 1998, the agreement was amended to include
additional fiber miles on the Company's network and for cancellation of the
warrants.

B. From QOctober 1995 through February 19%6, the Company issued and scld a
private offering of $858,000 of convertible subcrdinated notes. Concurrent with
the issuance of these notes, warrants were issued by the Company to the
noteholders to purchase 522,008 shares of common stock at $2.00 per share
through Neovember 2000. In 1996 and 19%7, in exchange for the extension of the
due dates of the notes, the Company issued warrarits to purchase 659,042 shares
of its common stock at $2.00 per share and recorded a charge of $111,306 and
$220,036 in 1996 an 199%7, respectively. In 19%7, the Company repaid the
outstanding balance of these notes plus all accrued interest. As of December 31,
1998, 782,016 of such warrants have been exercised.

C. In September 1596, the Company entered into a lcan agreement with a
finance company for $550,000. The loan bore interest at 10% per annum and was
repaid in 1997. As an incentive for the loan, the Company issued to the finance
company warrants to purchase 377,208 shares of common stock at an exercise price
of $1.48. The warrants are exercisable through September 1999, In 19%6, the
Company recorded a non-cash charge of $13,640 in connection with the issuance of
the warrants. All of the warrants have been exercised.

D. In August 1995, the Company initiated a $600,000 private offering of
subordinated notes which bore interest at an annual rate of 15% and were repaid
in 1997. With the issuance of the notes, warrants were issued t¢ the
noteholders. In April 1996, the Company issued a total of 237,436 shares of the
Company's common stock in exchange for the surrender and cancellation of the
warrants and a three-month extension of the maturity date of the notes. In 156§,
the Company recorded a non-cash charge of $107,322 in connection with such
issuance.

E. In April 1995, the Company entered inte a loan agreement with a
customer for $500,000 bearing interest at 11% per annum. In July 1987, the note
was repaid in full. In connection with this lecan, the Company issued the
customer a warrant entitling the holder to purchase a total of 2,876,668 shares
of the Company's common stock. In February 1997, this warrant was exchanged for
a new warrant to purchase 1,825,200 shares of the Company's common stock at
$1.21 per share. The new warrant expires on February 13, Z2000. As of December
31, 1998, ncne of the warrants have been exercised.

F. On December 13, 1996, the Company issued and sold to a private
investor, for an aggregate cash consideration of $2,025,000, (i) 600,000
shares of 10% cumulative convertible preferred stock (the "Series A preferred
stock”) bearing dividends at a rate of $.34 per share per annum, {ii}
warrants to purchase 456,300 shares c¢f Class A commeon stock at an exercise
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price of $1.24 per share and (iii) a contingent stock subscrip. warrant to
purchase a number of shares of Class A common stock (such number to be
determined based on certain future events) at an exerciss price of $0.01 per
share. In connection with the Metromedia Investment, the private investor
allowed the Series A preferred stock and the contingent warrants tc be
redeemed at an aggregate redemption price of $2,115,000 (which includes
accrued but unpaid dividends on the Serles A preferred stock) and the number
of shares underlying the private investor's warrants to ke increased from
456,300 to 912,60C0. In January 19%8, the private investor made a cashless
exercise of all its warrants and the number of its shares issuable upon
exercise was reduced by the number of shares at the closiag on the day of
exercise having a value egual to the aggregate exercise price. Accordingly,
the Company issued the private investor 691,060 common shares for all its
warrants.
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G. In June 1896, the Company granted 608,400 common stock purchase
warrants to the Company's legal counsel exercisable at $.02 per share for a
period of four yegars as additional consideration for legal services provided.
The Company recorded a non-cash charge of $200,000 for such issuance. As of
December 31, 1998, all of the warrants have been exercised.

As of December 31, 1998, in the aggregate, the Company had reserved
approximately 2,228,050 shares of its Class A common stock for exercise of
ocutstanding warrants.

STOCK OPTIONS

In 1997, the Company granted to certain officers, employees and directors
options to purchase up to 12,380,944 shares of its Class A common stock. The
options have exercise prices between $0.49 and $1.91 per share and expire in
2007. The Company recorded a non-cash charge of $19,218,5%1 for such issuance.

On Octcober 28, 1997, the Stockholders of the Company approved the
Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc. 1997 Incentive Stock Plan ("19%7 Option Plan™).
The 1997 Option Plan authorized the award of up to 4,000,000 cptions to acguire
Class A common stock of the Company to directors, officers and employees of the
Company and others who are deemed to provide substantial and important services
to the Company. In 1997, options to purchase 2,450,000 shares of the Company's
Class A commen stock were granted at an exercise price of $4.00 per share, the
market price at the date of grant. In 1898, options to purchase 1,700,000 shares
of the Company's Class A common stock were granted at exercise prices ranging
from $3.88 to 58.59 per share, the market price at the date of grant. Of these
grants, 557,500 were canceled and 117,500 were exercised as of December 31,
1398.

On May 18, 1998, the Stockhelders of the Company approved the Metromedia
Fiber Network, Inc. 1998 Incentive Stock Plan {"1998 Opticn Plan"). The 1988
Option Plan authorized the award of up te 10,000,000 options to acquire Class A
common stock of the Company to directors, officers and employees of the Company
and others who are deemed to provide substantial and important services to the
Company. Options to purchase 3,459,000 shares of the Company'’s Class A common
stock were granted at exercise prices ranging from $7.28 to $26.50 per share,
the market prices at thg dates of grant.

The compensation committee ¢f the Company's Board of Directors is
responsible for determining the type of award, when and t¢ whom awards are
granted, the number of shares and terms of the awards and the exercise price.
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The optlons are exercisable for a period not to exceed ten yea.rom the date
of the grant. Vesting periods range from immediate vesting te four years.

The following table summarizes the stock option transactions for the two
years ended December 31, 199%%8:

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMINTS

NUMBER QF

OPTIONS EXERCISE PRICES
Granted prior to December 31, 195%7. . . . . . . 14,830,944 5 0.49 to 5 4.00
Balance outstanding at December 31, 19%7. . . . 14,830,944 0.49 to 4.006
Granted e e e e e 5,159,000 3.88 to 26.50
Excercised. . . . . e . 550,024 0.49 to 7.47
Cancelled . . . . . . - . .. 567,500 0.49 to 8.59
Balance outstanding at December 31, 1998. . . . 18,872,420 0.49 to 26.50
Exercisable at:
December 31, 1987 12,241,172 0.49 to 1.91
December 31, 1998 12,444,920 0.49 to 4.00

The following table summarizes information about stock opticn outstanding

at December 31, 1598:

Year Ranges of

of Exercise
Grant Prices

1997 $0.4% to § 4.00
1998 3.88 to 26.50

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share

Options Granted

Weighted
Number Average Average
Cutstanding Remaining Exercise
at 12/31/98 Life (Years) Price
13,798,420 8.40 $0.98
5,074,000 9.42 9.75
18,872,420 8.67 $3.33

Opticns Exercisable

Weighted
Number Average
Exercisable Exercise
at 12/31/98 Price
12,440,920 $0.65
12,440,920 $0.65

required by Statement of Fimancial Standards No. 123, "Accounting for

is
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Stock-Based Compensation", and has been determined as if —<he any had
accounted for its employees' stock options under the fair value method provided
by that Statement. The fair value of the options was estimated at the date of
grant using the Black-3Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions for vested and non-vested options:

DECEMBER 31,

1998 1897
Risk-free interest yield. . . . . . . . . . . . . . 553 - 6.56 % 5.73 - 6.56 %
Volatility factor . . . . . . . . . . . oo 0. L .499 .369
Dividend yield. . . . . . . .« « . « .+« .+ w4 . . mm=—— em—ee
Average life. . . . . . . . 0 o 0 0 0 0 e e 0 e 0 5 years 5 years

The Black-Schcles opticns valuaticn model was developed for use in
estimating the fair value of traded opticns, which have no vesting restrictions
and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the
input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price
volatility.

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
NCTES TC CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Because the Company's employee stock options have characteristics significantly
different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management's
cpinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single
measure of the fair value of its emplcyee stock opticns.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair wvalue of the
options is amortized to expense over the vesting period of the options. The
Company's pr¢ forma information is as follows (000's):

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

1398 1997
Fro forma net loss applicable to common stock $ (864) $(28,043)
Pro forma net loss per share applicable to
common stock, basic $(0.01) S {(0.59)

NOTE 12: SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS

During the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1937 one customer accounted
for 40% and 21%, respectively of the Company's tctal revenue. During the vyears
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ended December 31, 1998 and 1997 another customer accounted for!S% and 15%,
respectively of the Company's total revenue. During the years ended December 31,
1998 a third customer acccunted for 12% of the Company's =-otal revenue.

NOTE 13: INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense (benefitr) for the years ended December 31, 1598, 1997
and 1996 1is as follows (in thousands):

1998 1987 1956
CURRENT
Federal $ 4,513 $ - S -
State and local 2,720 - -
7,233 - -
DEFERRED
Federal (2,375) - -
State and local (1,4586) - -
(3,831) - _
$ 3,402 $ - 8 -

Total income tax expense (bénefit) differed from the amounts computed by
applying the federal statutory income tax rate {35%) to earnings (less) before
income tax expense {(benefit) as a result of the following items for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 {in thousands):
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1998 1887 1996

U.3. statutory rate applied to pre-tax income
{loss) $ 1,492 $ - % -
State and local taxes, net of.federal tax benefit 834 - -
Non deductible expenses 1,118 - -
Valuation allcwance - - -
Others, net (42) - -
$ 3,402 5 - $ -

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant
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portions of the deferred taXx assets and liabilities at December!l, 1998 and
1997 are as follows {in thousands):

1998 1997
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Deferred revenue $ 29,923 $ 5,173
Employee kenefits 9,893 10,074
Cost of sales of IRU's and sales type leases 5,599 573
Net operating loses - 1,125
Others 2,522 1,465
$ 37,937 $ 18,4210
Valuation allowance (18,309) (18,30%9)
19,628 101
DEFERRED TAX (LIABILITIES)
Capitalized leases (14,782} -
Depreciation and amortization {1,003} (89)
Other (12) (12)
(15,797) (101)
Net deferred asset $ 3,831 s -

1996

A portion of the deferred tax asset has been reserved since it is not
certaln that future taxable income will be realized in the carryforward period
or in year of asset turnaround.

There was no provision for federal or state income taxes for the years
ended December 31, 1997 and 19%6. At December 31, 1398, the Company expects to
have fully utilized its net operating losses

NOTE 14: 401(K) PLAN

In 1298, the Company implemented a 401(k} fPlan (the "Plan") which permits
employees tc make contributions to the Plan on a pre-tax salary reduction basis
in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code. All full-time employees are
eligible to participate at the beginning of the quarter following three months
of service. Eligible employees may contribute up to 15% of their annual
compensation. The Company matches 50% of the employees first 6% of
contributions. The Company contributed $78,000 for 1998 as these matching
contributions. The company bere the nominal administrative cost of the plan
during 1998.

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
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NOTE 15: RECONCILIATION CF EARNINGS PER SHARE (IN THOUSANDS):
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o

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

998 1997 1996

Net inccome (loss) 5 986 $(26,259) $(10,359)
Deduct dividend on preferred shares - 77 -
Net loss applicable to common stock 986 (26,336) (10,359)
Shares
Weighted average number of
commeon shares outstanding-kasic $3,485 47,447 35,858
Net income (loss) per common share-basic b3 0.01 $  {0.56) s {(0.29)
Weighted average number

of commen shares outstanding-basic 43,495 47,447 35,858
Assuming conversion of warrants and

options outstanding 16,267 - -
Weighted average number of

common shares cutstanding - diluted 109,762 47,447 35,8658
Net income (loss) per common share - diluted $ 0.01 N/A N/A

NOTE 16: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
NETWORK CONSTRUCTICN PROJECTS

In 1998, the Company commenced construction of varicus networks cutside of
the New York Metropolitan area. The Company's commitment to purchase materials
and contracts for the construction of fiber optic network systems was
approximately $70 million as of December 31, 1998.

FRANCHISE, LICENSE, RIGHT-OF WAY ACREEMENTS AND CPERATING AND CAPITAL LEASES

The Company has entered into various franchise and license agreements with
municipalities and utility-related companies to, in most instances, install,
operate, repalr, maintain and replace cable, wire, fiber or other transmission
media and the related equipment and facilities. The terms for these agreements
vary in length, with various renewal and termination provisions. The Company
charges the portions of these agreements incurred te construction-in-progress
until the related portion of the network is completed. The fees charged to
operations in connecticn with these agreements were approximately $1,673,000,
$607,000 and $%459,000 for the years ended December 31, 1998, 19597 and 1996,
respectively.
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In addition, the company leases office and coperatioa facillties and
various equipment, which expire at various times through March 31, 2010. Rent
expense charged to operations was approximately $958,000, $268,000 and $158,000
for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

The Company has entered intc capital lease agreements for certain network
assets and for certain rights-of-ways. Total assets acguired under capital
leases were approximately $27,876,000 at December 31, 1998. The capital leases
are held as construction-in-progress until the related portion of the network is
completed.

Approximate minimum payments under the aforementioned agreements are {in
thousands):

Franchise,
License and
Right-of-
way Capital Operating
Agreements Leases Leases
For the year ended December 31,
1999 . . L o e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 1,018 $ 1,551 5 1,954
2000 .« v o v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 1,121 1,797 2,032
1 0 1,121 1,859 z2,054
2002 . v v e e s e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s 971 1,923 2,050
2003 . . . e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 661 1,991 1,532
Thereafter . . . . . . « « « v v« v v e e e e e 7,922 42,972 7,339
Total minimum lease payments . . . . . . . . . . .« . . $12,814 52,093 317,001
Less amounts representing
InteresSt & v v v 0 v e e e e e e e e e e e e e s 29,363
Present value of future
minimum lease payments. . . . . . . .« .+ o+ o 4 . 0 L. 22,730

Less amounts due in one year. . . . .« 4 v e o« o« 4 . . 55

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

The Company has executed employment contracts for future services, for
up to five years, with certain senicr executives for whom the Company has a
minimum commitment aggregating approximately $3.4 million at December 31,
1968. This amount is not included in the consolidated finsncial statements at
December 31, 1998.

LITIGATION

Cn or about Octeober 20, 18%7, Vento & Company of New York, LLC
commenced an action against Metromedia Fiber Network, Sterhen A. Garofalo,
Peter Silverman, the law firm of Silverman, Collura, Chernis & Balzano, P.C.,
Peter Sahagen, Sahagen Consulting Group of Florida (cellectively, the
"Sahagen Defendants") and Robert Kramer, Birdie Capital Ccrp., Lawrence
Black, Sterling Capital LLC, Penrush Limited, Needham Capital Group, Arthur
Asch, Michael Asch and Ronald Kuzon (the "Kramer Defendants") in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York (No. 97 CIV
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7751). On or about May 29, 1998, Vento & Cempany filed an amende! complaint.
In its complaint, as amended, Ventoc & Company alleges four causes
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of action in connection with its sale of 900,000 shares (not adjusted for
subsequent stock splits) of Class A Common Stock to Peter Sahagen and the
Kramer Defendants on January 13, 1997. The four causes of action include: (i)
violation of Section 10(b} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule
10b-5 promulgated under such Act; (ii} fraud and fraudulent concealment;
{1ii) breach of fiduclary duty; and (iv) negligent misrepresentation and
cemission. On the first and second causes of action, Vento & Company is
seeking, amcong other things, rescission of the Vento & Company sale, or
alternatively, damages in an amount which we cannot currertly ascertain but
believe to be in excess of $36 million, together with interest. On the third
and fourth causes of action, Vento & Company is seeking damages in an amount
which we cannot currently ascertain but believe to be in excess of $36
million, together with interest. Vento & Company is also seeking punitive
damages in the amount of 350 million, reasonable legal fees and the cost of
this action. A1} the defendants, including Metromedia Fiber Network and
Stephen A. Garofalo, have moved to dismiss Vento and Company's amended
complaint.

On or about June 12, 19898, Claudic E. Contardi commenced an action
against Peter Sahagen, Sahagen Consulting Group of Fleorida and Metromedia
Fiber Network in the United States District Court for the Southern District
of New York (No. 98 CIV 4140). Mr. Contardi alleges a cause of action for,
among other things, breach of a finder's fee agreement entered into between
Mr. Sahagen and Mr. Contardi on or about November 14, 199¢ and breach of an
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing contained in the finder’s fee
agreement. Mr. Contardi is seeking, among other things, a number of shares of
Metromedia Fiber Network which we cannot currently ascertain but believe to
be approximately 225,000 shares (calculated as of the date on which the
complaint was filed) or damages in an amcunt which we cannot currently
ascertain but believe to be approximately $4.9% million (calculated as of the
date on which the complaint was filed) and all costs and expenses incurred by
him in this action. We have filed an answer to the complaint and has raised
affirmative defenses.

We intend to vigorously defend both these actions because we believe
that we acted appropriately in connection with the matters at issue in these
two cases. However, we cannot assure you that we will not determine that the
advantages of entering intc a settlement outweigh the risk and expense of
pretracted litigation or that ultimately we will be successful in defending
against these allegations. If we are unsuccessful in defending against these
allegations, an award of the magnitude being sought in the Vento & Company
litigation would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
results of operations.

In addition, we are subject to various claims and proceedings in the
ordinary ceourse of business. Based on information currently available, we
believe that none of such current claims, or proceedings, individually, or in
the aggregate, including the Ventc & Company litigation and the Contardi
litigation, will have a material adverse effect con our financial condition cr
results of operations, althocugh we can make no assurances in this regard.
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EXHIBIT INDEX : .

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE II

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

DESCRIPTION

Reserves deducted from assets to
which they apply:

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
1397
19398

Balance at Additions
Beginning of Charged to Costs
Year and Expenses
§ - $337,500
$337,500 8 -
5-1

EXHIBIT 21.1

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
AS OF MARCH 15, 19%%

Name

Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc.

Metromedia Fiber Network Services, Inc,
Metromedia Fiber Network of Iliinois, Inc,
Metromedia Fiber Network of New Jersey, Inc.
Metromedia Fiber Network of NYC, IncC.

International Optical Wetwork, L.L.C.
{£/k/a MEFNRAC, L.L.C.)

MFN of VA, L.L.C,

MFN Purchasing, Inc.

MFN Internaticnal, Inc.

MFN Holdings GmbH

Metromedia Fiber Network GmbH

Metromedia Fiker Network Services GmbH

Metromedia Fiber Network B.V.

Jurisdiction D/B/A

DE
DE
DE
DE
DE

DE I0NW

VA

DE

DE
Germany
Germany
Germany

Netherlands

Balance at

End of
Deductions Year
$ - £337,500
8 - $337,500
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EXHIBIT 21.2

METROMEDIA FIBER NETWORK,
AS OF MARCH 15,

INC.
1599

& SUBSIDIARIES

CCNSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements
(Form S5-8) Pertaining to the (i) Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc. 1998 Incentive
Steck Plan and {ii) Metrcomedia Fiber Network, Tnc. 1997 Incentive Stock Plan
and employment and censulting agreements of our report dated March ¢, 1999,
with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of
Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc. included in the Annual Repcrt (Form 10-K) for

the vear ended December 31, 1998,

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

ERNST & YQUNG LLP
New York, New York
March 15, 1999
<ARTICLE> 5
<MULTIPLIER> 1,000
<PERIOD-TYPE> 12-MCS
<FISCAL~YEAR-END> DEC~31-1598
<PERICD-START> JAN-01-1598
<PERIQD-END> DEC-31-1998
<CASH> 569,319
<SECURITIES> 91,896
<RECEIVABLES> 30,310
<ALLOWANCES> o
<INVENTORY> 0
<CURRENT-ASSETS> 665,823
<PP&E> 249,869
<DEPRECIATION> (2,877)
<TOTAL-ASSETS> 974,417
<CURRENT-LIABTLITIES> 110,773
<BONDS> 650,000
<PREFERRED-MANDATORY> 0
<PREFERRED> 0
<COMMON> 945
<QOTRER-SE> 156, 56%
<TOTAL-LIABILITY -BND-EQUITY> 974,417
<SALES> 36,43¢
<TOTAL-REVENUES> 36,436
<CGS> 13, 937
<TOTAL-COSTS> 13, 937
<OTHER-EXPENSES> 19,746

<LOSS-PROVISION> 0

<INTEREST-EXPENSE> (1,%27)
<INCOME-PRETAX> 4,388
<INCOME-TAX> 3,402
<INCOME-CONTINUING> 286
<DISCONTINUED> 0
<EXTRAORDINARY> 0
<CHANGES> 0
<NET-INCCME> 986
<EPS-PRIMARY> 0.01
<EPS-DILUTED> 0.01
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